
For the Hearing-Impaired – there is a listening device available at the Board of Supervisors Room upon request..  TTY access number is  
711  to make arrangements.   

For persons with Disabilities – if you have special needs, please call the County Administrator’s Office at 591-1910 and relay your request. 
 

AGENDA 
FLUVANNA COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

Regular Meeting 
Circuit Courtroom 

Fluvanna Courts Building 
June 6th, 2012 

2:00 p.m. 
 

 
  1-CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, MOMENT OF SILENCE 

 
  2-REPORTS 

Steven M. Nichols, County Administrator 
 

   3-PUBLIC COMMENTS #1 (5 minutes each) 
 

  4-CONSENT AGENDA 
TAB N  Minutes of May 16th, 2012 – Mary Weaver, Clerk to the Board of Supervisors 
TAB O  FY12 Budget Supplement for Library Telecommunications reimbursement 
TAB P  Memorandum of Understandings (MOUs) for Microfinance and Workforce Education (CIC, EDA &  

FEF) 
TAB H Approve issuance of RFP for Fork Union Station Design-Build Construction – Robert Popowicz,  

Economic Development Director 
 
    5-ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 
TAB Q  Accounts Payable – Melissa Marks, Senior Finance Assistant 
 
   6-PUBLIC HEARING  

None 
     

   7-PRESENTATIONS (normally not to exceed 10-minute limitation) 
  VACO Update – Dean Lynch, Deputy Executive Director 
TAB R  Return on Investment Final Report – Mr. Steve Williams, Executive Director, Thomas Jefferson  

Planning District Commission 
TAB S  Economic Directors Approach for Economic Development – Robert Popowicz, Economic Development  

Director 
TAB T  Meals Tax Review and Options – Steven M. Nichols, County Administrator 
 
   8-ACTION MATTERS 
TAB U  Procedures for Boards, Commissions and Committees – Steven M. Nichols, County Administrator 

 Boards, Commissions and Committees – Mary L. Weaver, Clerk to the Board of Supervisors 
TAB V   *Social Services Board, Rivanna District 
TAB W   *Library Board of Trustees, Rivanna District 
TAB XYZ    Planning Commission, Cunningham District 
TAB A       Planning Commission, Palmyra District 
TAB B     Agricultural/Forestal Advisory Committee 
TAB C     Agricultural/Forestal Advisory Committee 
TAB D     Economic Development Authority (EDA) 
TAB E     Court Green Committee 
TAB F     JAUNT Board 
 

  9-UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
TAB G  Noise Ordinance – Andrew Pompei, Planner 
  VRS Contribution Options – Steven M. Nichols, County Administrator 
 

10-NEW BUSINESS 



For the Hearing-Impaired – there is a listening device available at the Board of Supervisors Room upon request..  TTY access number is  
711  to make arrangements.   

For persons with Disabilities – if you have special needs, please call the County Administrator’s Office at 591-1910 and relay your request. 
 

 
11-PUBLIC COMMENT #2 (5 minutes each) 

 
 12-CLOSED MEETING 
  Personnel Matters and Consultation with Legal Counsel 
 

13-ADJOURN  
 
 

********** 
Pledge of Allegiance 

I pledge allegiance to the flag  
of the United States of America  

and to the Republic for which it stands,  
one nation, under God, indivisible, 

 with liberty and justice for all. 
********** 

ORDER 
 
1. It shall be the duty of the Chairman to maintain order and decorum at meetings.  The Chairman shall speak to points of order in 

preference to all other members. 
 
2. In maintaining decorum and propriety of conduct, the Chairman shall not be challenged and no debate shall be allowed until after 

the Chairman declares that order has been restored.  In the event the Board wishes to debate the matter of the disorder or the 
bringing of order; the regular business may be suspended by vote of the Board to discuss the matter. 

 
3. No member or citizen shall be allowed to use abusive language, excessive noise, or in any way incite persons to use such tactics.  

The Chairman and/or the County Administrator shall be the judge of such breaches, however, the Board may vote to overrule both. 
 
4.    When a person engages in such breaches, the Chairman shall order the person’s removal from the building, or may order the  
       person to stand silent, or may, if necessary, order the person removed from the County property. 





Board of Supervisors Minutes
May 16, 2012

Page 1

FLUVANNA COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES

Circuit Court Room
May 16, 2012

7:00 p.m.

MEMBERS PRESENT: Shaun V. Kenney, Chairman (arrived at 7:21pm)
Bob Ullenbruch, Vice-Chairman
Mozell H. Booker
Donald W. Weaver
Joe Chesser

ALSO PRESENT: Steven M. Nichols, County Administrator
Fred Payne, County Attorney
Eric Dahl, Budget Analyst
Andrew Pompei, Planner
Steven Tugwell, Senior Planner
Bobby Popowicz, Economic Development Director

CALL TO ORDER/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/MOMENT OF SILENCE
Vice-Chairman Ullenbruch called the meeting of May 16, 2012, to order at 7:07 p.m., in the 
Circuit Courtroom in Palmyra, Virginia;

MOTION: 
Mr. Weaver moved to adjourn the meeting and reconvene in the Auditorium of 
the Central Elementary School. Mr. Chesser seconded. The motion carried, with a 
vote of 4-0. AYES: Ullenbruch, Weaver, Chesser, and Booker. NAYS: None. 
ABSENT: Kenney

ADJOURNED to Central Elementary at 7:10p.m.
The Board adjourned at 7:10p.m. to the Auditorium at Central Elementary School.

RECONVENED
The Board reconvened at 7:21p.m.

Chairman Kenney reconvened the meeting of May 16, 2012, in the Auditorium at Central 
Elementary School in Palmyra, Virginia; the Pledge of Allegiance was recited, after which, 
Chairman Kenney called for a moment of silence.

REPORTS
County Report
Mr. Steven M. Nichols, County Administrator reported on the following topics:
 Recommendations of changes for meeting – move Tab M/Adoption of VRS Resolution 

for concurrence with the School Board’s election and Tab Mc/Fluvanna County School 
board request for additional funding for FY 13 Budget to the beginning of the agenda 



Board of Supervisors Minutes
May 16, 2012

Page 2

after public comments.  Also recommended changing the time limit from five minutes to 
three minutes and set a time limit for speakers.

 County Administrator perspective – received 60 staff survey responses, putting together a 
group to talk about working with county staff, county agencies and constitutional 
officers. Working on a streamline organization, will present the before next meeting. 
Changing the 12 page performance form to a two page.

 Human Resource Manager – introduced new Human Resource Manager, Ms. Gail 
Parrish, started on May 9, 2012.  

 Robinson, Farmer and Cox – have audit options, will discuss in New Business at end of 
meeting.

 Central Elementary Staff – Kudos to Ms. Barnabei and her staff for a great job get things 
organized for this meeting.

The Board moved the minute time limit for public comments be changed from five minutes to 
three for this meeting. The Board also agreed to move Tab M and Mc to the beginning of the 
agenda.

VRS Resolution for concurrence with the School Board’s election to pay the VRS Board certified 
employer contribution rate for VRS non-“teacher” category employees in FY 2013

MOTION:
Mr. Weaver moved to adopt the resolution indicating local governing body 
concurrence with the school division electing to pay the Virginia Retirement System 
(VRS) Board certified rate employer contribution rate of 7.99% for the school 
division’s non-“teacher” category employees in Fiscal Year 2013.  Mr. Chesser 
seconded. The motion carried, with a vote of 5-0. AYES: Chesser, Booker, 
Ullenbruch, Kenney and Weaver. NAYS: None. ABSENT: None.

Fluvanna County School Board request for additional funding for FY13 Budget – Ms. Gena 
Keller, School Superintendent presented the Board with a power point presentation and detailed 
information on this request. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS #1
Chairman Kenney opened the floor for the first round of public comments.
 Emily Daidone, Cunningham District – addressed the Board in regards to JABA, supports 

level funding.
 Audrey Ophelia Whittington, Fork Union District – addressed the Board in regards to 

JABA, save program.
 Alese Payne, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in regards to JABA, support 

program.
 Theresa Scruggs, Cunningham District – addressed the Board in regards to reallocating 

funds from 911 to schools temporarily, start meals tax and raise property taxes.
 Dianna Wissinger, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in regards to raising taxes,

meals tax and supports waterline for more business.
 Sam Patterson, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in opposition of raising taxes.



Board of Supervisors Minutes
May 16, 2012

Page 3

 Thelma Sotto, Fork Union District – addressed the Board in support of the JAUNT 
programs.

 Minor Eager, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in regards to out-of-control 
spending, asked for residents to donate to all county services.

 Florence Pugh, Fork Union District – addressed the Board in support of the JAUNT 
programs.

 Gloria Scharer – Cunningham District – addressed the Board in support of raising taxes, 
opposed to school cuts.

 Mike Lawson, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in regards to the Board of 
Supervisors and School Board working together.

 Francis Schutz, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in support of advertised tax rate 
and budget supplement to support services.

 Rebecca Newman, Rivanna District – addressed the Board in opposition of school 
program cuts, encourage students to be involved in budget process earlier, supports E-911
reallocation.

 Kim Rodriguez, Rivanna District – addressed the Board in regards to students with 
accessibility challenges, supports budget amendment.

 Olivia Staff, Rivanna District – addressed the Board in opposition of school cuts, 
supports full funding, urges county to look for alternative revenue sources.

 Dana Shepherd, Cunningham District – addressed the Board in opposition of school cuts, 
thanked those that support the schools over the years.

 Bryce Campanelli, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in opposition of school cuts
youth should be #1 priority.

 Keegan Campanelli, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in regards to fully funding 
schools.

 Catherine Maguire, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in regards to fully funding 
schools.

 Aimee Wiersma, Columbia District – addressed the Board in support of the amendment 
request.

 Eric Thompson – addressed the Board in support of schools and should prepare for bad 
economic times coming in the future.

 Angela Davis, Cunningham District – addressed the Board in support of raising taxes, 
and reallocate money back to the schools.

 Gary Greenwood, Fork Union District – addressed the Board in regards to the Extended 
Education Program.

 Laurie & Jackson Brooks, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in regards to the 
Extended Education Program.

 Brandon Henning, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in support of adequate funding 
for the schools.

 Paul Seehaver, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in support of reallocation of E-911
funding for schools, responsibility of Board members to represent the residents.

 Ann Carter, Rivanna District – addressed the Board in support of .68 cent tax rate, and 
JABA and JAUNT.

 Jackie Peake, Cunningham District – addressed the Board in regards to proper protocol 
for budget adoption.



Board of Supervisors Minutes
May 16, 2012

Page 4

 Robert Peake, Cunningham District – addressed the Board in support of higher tax rate 
and fully funding schools.

 Madison Stafford, Fork Union District – addressed the Board in support of fully funding 
schools.

 Cheryl Gilliam, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in support of the schools.
 Suzy F. Morris, Columbia District – addressed the Board in regards to investing in the 

kids.
 Erin Small, Rivanna District – addressed the Board in support of fully funding the 

schools.
 Haden Parrish, Fork Union District – addressed the Board in support of fully funding the 

schools and funding JABA and JAUNT.
 Bridget Madison, Fork Union District – addressed the Board in support of reallocating E-

911 funds temporarily and funding JABA and JAUNT.
 Rob Silverman, Cunningham District – addressed the Board in regards to how the Boards 

decisions will affect our county and support of reallocating E-911 funds temporarily 
 Mary Ott, Cunningham District – addressed the Board in support of adult literacy 

program, support funding the schools.
 Perrie Johnson, Fork Union District – addressed the Board in support of fully funding the 

schools.
 Gina Proulx, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in support of fully funding the 

schools, JAUNT, JABA and reallocating the E-911 funds temporarily.
 Heather Chambers, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in support of fully funding the 

schools.
 Cheryl Daidone, Rivanna District – addressed the Board in support of fully funding the 

schools.
 Juan Rodriguez, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in support of fully funding the 

schools.
 Gary Osteen, Cunningham District – addressed the Board in support of fully funding the 

schools.
 Robert Bower, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in support of the .68 cent tax rate.
 Bill Sullivan, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in support of fully funding the 

schools and look at reallocating the E-911 funds temporarily.
 Jon Carrier, Rivanna District – addressed the Board in support of reallocating the E-911

funds temporarily and support JAUNT and JABA.
 Gequetta Murray-Key, Lake Monticello – addressed the Board in regards to volunteering 

and getting involved in the community, request for economic Development to create 
revenue.

 Christi Garrett, Troy – addressed the Board in regards to the unprofessionalism of the 
Board and supports the funding of the schools, JAUNT and JABA.

 Angela Washington – addressed the Board in support of fully funding the schools and 
reallocating the E-911 funds temporarily.

 Kandy Kovaleski, Fork Union District – addressed the Board in support of fully funding
the schools, JABA and JAUNT.

 Carrie Farruggio, Palmyra District - addressed the Board in support of fully funding the 
schools, .68 cent tax rate and Economic Development.



Board of Supervisors Minutes
May 16, 2012

Page 5

 Jesse Clowater, Columbia District – addressed the Board in support of fully funding the 
JAUNT program.

 Nicole Scholes, Columbia District – addressed the Board in regards to the need for 
Economic Development.

 David McGlothlin, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in support of fully funding the 
schools, Board should be accountable for their actions.

 Tom Payne, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in regards to the separation of the 
Board of Supervisors and the School Board, support restoring the schools and the non-
profit organizations. 

 Sherry Winston, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in support of fully funding 
schools, technical classes at high school, need more than $650,000.

 Jonathan Corbin, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in support of fully funding 
schools, keep promises.

 Dr. Theresa Carroll, Fork Union District – addressed the Board in support of fully
funding schools, JAUNT, JABA and reallocating the E-911 funds temporarily.

 Sara Graziano, Rivanna District – addressed the Board in support of fully funding 
schools, higher tax rate.

EXTEND MEETING
MOTION:

Mr. Chesser moved to extend the Board of Supervisors meeting to 1:00am. Mrs.
Booker seconded. The motion carried with a vote of 5-0. AYES: Kenney,
Ullenbruch, Chesser, Booker and Weaver. NAYS: None. ABSENT: None.

 Angel Husted, Rivanna District – addressed the Board in support of fully funding 
schools, JAUNT, JABA and reallocating the E-911 funds temporarily.

 Len Bozza, Cunningham District – addressed the Board in regards to restoring the .68 tax 
rate, supports reallocate the E-911 funds temporarily.

 Lori Hoffman, - addressed the Board in regards to deep dismay of the Boards action and 
support of fully funding schools, JAUNT and JABA.

With no one else wishing to speak, Chairman Kenney closed the first round of public comments.

After the Board discussed the following motion was made:
MOTION:

Mr. Weaver moved to amend the FY13 adopted budget by transferring $650,000.00 
to the Schools, resulting in a revised School funding amount of $34,318,540.00, such 
transfer to consist of $250,000.00 from FY12 Microfinance and Workforce Education 
funding carryover and $400,000.00 from the General Fund Balance. Mr. Ullenbruch 
seconded. The motion carried, with a vote of 5-0. AYES: Chesser, Booker, 
Ullenbruch, Kenney and Weaver. NAYS: None. ABSENT: None.

MOTION:
Mr. Weaver moved to amend FY13 Budget designating $65,000.00 for JABA and 
$65,000.00 for JAUNT non-profit agency support, such funds to consist of 
$30,000.00 from FY13 County Administrator salary and benefit funding and 



Board of Supervisors Minutes
May 16, 2012

Page 6

$100,000.00 from FY13 E-911 funding.  Mr. Chesser seconded. The motion carried, 
with a vote of 4-1. AYES: Chesser, Booker, Ullenbruch and Weaver. NAYS: 
Kenney. ABSENT: None.

MOTION:
Mrs. Booker moved to authorize a budget transfer of $1,000,000.00 from FY13 E-911
funding to FY 13 Schools funding. Mr. Chesser seconded.  The motion failed, with a 
vote of 2-3. AYES: Chesser and Booker. NAYS: Ullenbruch, Kenney and Weaver.
ABSENT: None.

CONSENT AGENDA
The following items were approved under the consent agenda:

MOTION:
Mr. Weaver moved to approve the consent agenda, which consisted of:
 Budget Public Hearing Minutes from April 11, 2012.
 Regular Meeting Minutes from April18, 2012.
 Union Mills Ag/Forestal District renewal
 Resolution/VDOT Secondary Six-Year Plan (2012-13 through 2017-18)

and the VDOT Construction Priority List (2012/13).
 Farmers Market Promotion Grant Application.
 Byrne Justice Assistance Grant (JAG).
 Resolution/Guidelines for PPEA.
 Supplemental Appropriation for additional State revenue to the Schools 

FY12.
Mr. Chesser seconded. The motion carried, with a vote of 5-0.  AYES:  
Ullenbruch, Booker, Kenney, Chesser and Weaver.   NAYS:  None.  ABSENT:  
None.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
None

RECESS
The Board recessed at 11:33 p.m.

RECONVENED
The Board reconvened at 11:45 p.m.

PUBLIC HEARING
CPA 12:01, Fluvanna County – Comprehensive Plan Text Amendment
This is a request to amend the Vision chapter of the Comprehensive Plan, along with any other 
associated changes to the plan as a result of the additions. The existing text within the Vision 
chapter will be replaced with new text and illustrations prepared by the Board of Supervisors. 
The proposed amendment to the Comprehensive Plan adjusts the vision statement in order to 
better reflect the adopted goals of the Board of Supervisors and elaborate on the meaning of the 



Board of Supervisors Minutes
May 16, 2012

Page 7

County’s vision statement. The amendment is generally consistent with other chapters of the 
Comprehensive Plan.
This request was deferred and will be readvertised for the June 20, 2012 Board of Supervisors 
meeting.

ZMP 12:01, Southern Land Holdings, LLC – B-C with Amended Proffers
An ordinance to amend the proffers associated with ZMP 01:01 of the Fluvanna County Zoning 
Map with respect to 1.43 acres of Tax Map 18B, Section 5, Parcel 1 to allow commercial 
greenhouses to the uses permitted by-right within the B-C, Business, Convenience District. The 
affected property is located on the north side of Route 618 (Lake Monticello Road) 
approximately 1,000 feet west of its intersection with Route 600 (South Boston Road). The 
property is located in the Palmyra Election District and is within the Rivanna Community 
Planning Area.
Mr. Steve Tugwell, Senior Planner addressed the Board regarding this request.
Chairman Kenney opened the public hearing.
 Alex Pratts, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in opposition of the heavy machinery 

that is used.
 John Danna, Palmyra District – addressed the Board in regards to definition of 

greenhouse, in opposition of the request.
 Eddy Patterson, Palmyra District, Owner of Monticello Mulch – addressed the Board in 

regards to the history of Monticello Mulch.
 Henry Southworth, Cunningham District – addressed the Board in support of this request.
 John Carrier, Rivanna District – addressed the Board in support of this request.

No one else wishing to speak Chairman Kenney closed the public hearing.
Mr. Fred Payne, County Attorney reviewed the history of this request, the definition of 
commercial greenhouse and permitted uses within B-C districts.  
After discussion the Board made the following motion;

MOTION:
Mr. Ullenbruch moved to approve ZMP 12:01, a request to amend ZMP 01:01 
with respect to approximately 1.43 acres of Tax Map 18B, Section 5, Parcel 1 
with the following 14 proffers:

1. Limit the uses to business and professional offices, veterinary 
clinic/boarding which may require a special use permit, and commercial 
greenhouses.  All other uses would be prohibited.

2. The hours of operation shall be 8am to 4pm Monday-Friday and closed on 
Saturday and Sunday during the months of January and February.

3. The hours of operation shall be from 8am to 6pm Monday-Friday 8am to 
4pm on Saturday and 11am to 4pm on Sunday during the months of 
March through October.

4. The hours of operation shall be 8am to 4pm Monday-Friday and closed on 
Saturday and Sunday from November 1 to November 15.

5. The hours of operation for Christmas tree sales shall be 8am to 8pm 
Monday-Friday on Saturday and Sunday 11am to 5pm from November 15 
through December 24.

6. The business will be closed from December 25 through January 1.



Board of Supervisors Minutes
May 16, 2012

Page 8

7. Toggle switches shall be installed on the dump trucks so that the alarms 
can be deactivated while on premise.

8. After hours of operation, trucks shall be parked 648 feet from road (618) 
and dump trucks shall be parked in the wooded areas to help decrease their 
noise level in the mornings.

9. All electrical components of the on-premise sign shall be removed so that 
the sign can no longer be illuminated.

10. Six (6) Leyland Cypress shall be installed near the edge of property facing 
Route 618, 10 to 14 feet in height and 5ft to 6ft in diameter to provide a 
noise buffer and screening.

11. The customer loading area for our stone shall be moved back 150 feet to 
help lessen the noise.

12. Trucks shall not be loaded with rock or mulch before 8am.
13. Large dump truck (over 26,000 lbs gross vehicle weight) shall not operate 

before 8am.
14. There shall be no incoming mulch or rock deliveries on Saturday or 

Sundays.
Mr. Weaver seconded. The motion carried, with a vote of 4-0-1.  AYES:  
Ullenbruch, Kenney, Chesser and Weaver.   NAYS:  None.  ABSENT:  None.
ABSTAIN:  Booker

PRESENTATIONS
Economic Directors Approach for Economic Development – This presentation was deferred to 
the June 6, 2012 Board of Supervisors meeting.

ACTION MATTERS
MOU between Board of Supervisors and Public Schools for use of existing well – Mr. Jonathan 
Hirst, Clerk of Works addressed regarding this request.

MOTION: 
Mr. Weaver moved to adopt the “Memorandum of Understanding between the 
Fluvanna County Board of Supervisors and the Fluvanna County School Board” 
concerning the use of the existing well at Pleasant Grove as a water source.  Mr. 
Chesser seconded. The motion carried, with a vote of 5-0. AYES: Ullenbruch,
Weaver, Chesser, Booker and Kenney. NAYS: None. ABSENT: None.

RFQ for New Fork Union Fire Station – Mr. Robert Popowicz, Economic Development 
Director, addressed the Board regarding the Design-Build procedures.

MOTION: 
Mr. Chesser moved to determine that, for the reasons set forth in the written 
determination, for the construction of the new Fork Union Fire Station, (i) a 
design-build contract is more advantageous than a competitive sealed bid 
construction contract; (ii) there is a benefit to the County by using a design-build 
contract; and (iii) competitive sealed bidding is not practical or fiscally 
advantageous; and to authorize the Chairman to sign the attached written 



Board of Supervisors Minutes
May 16, 2012

Page 9

determination. Mrs. Booker seconded. The motion carried, with a vote of 5-0.
AYES: Ullenbruch, Weaver, Chesser, Booker, and Kenney. NAYS: None. 
ABSENT: None

MOTION: 
Mr. Chesser moved to authorize the County Administrator to appoint an 
Evaluation Committee to review the qualifications of the firms responding to the 
Request for Qualifications.  The committee will make a recommendation to the 
Board of Supervisors of the two to five best qualified Design-Build firms 
submitting qualifications for the project.  Should the Board decide to accept the 
Committee’s recommendation and authorize Request for Proposals, the selected 
firms will be notified to begin submittal of proposals for the Fork Union Fire 
Station. Mrs. Booker seconded. The motion carried, with a vote of 5-0. AYES: 
Ullenbruch, Weaver, Chesser, Booker, and Kenney. NAYS: None. ABSENT: 
None

MOTION: 
Mr. Chesser moved to authorize staff to advertise and receive Request for 
Qualifications for the purpose of selecting possible qualified design-build firms to 
solicit Requests for Proposals on the Fork Union Fire Station project. Mrs. Booker
seconded. The motion carried, with a vote of 5-0. AYES: Ullenbruch, Weaver, 
Chesser, Booker, and Kenney. NAYS: None. ABSENT: None

UNFINISHED BUSINESS
The Board directed staff to pursue adversarial audit with Robins Farmer and Cox for the County 
and Schools.

Waterline Status – Mr. Chesser mentioned to the Board that a new unsolicited proposal from 
Aqua Virginia for the waterline to Zion Crossroads.

The Board directed staff to receive and accept the Aqua PPEA subject to staff review for 
appropriateness, then post for public review.

NEW BUSINESS
None

PUBLIC COMMENTS #2
Chairman Kenney opened the floor for the second round of public comments.
 Mr. Shaver – addressed the Board in regards to the cuts to the schools.

With no one else wishing to speak, Chairman Kenney closed the second segment of public
comments.
The Board directed staff to look into meals tax options.

CLOSED MEETING
None



Board of Supervisors Minutes
May 16, 2012

Page 10

ADJOURN
MOTION:

At 12:37a.m., Mr. Weaver moved to adjourn the meeting of Wednesday, May 16,
2012. Mrs. Booker seconded. The motion carried, with a vote of 5-0.  AYES: 
Kenney, Ullenbruch, Booker, Weaver and Chesser. NAYS:  None. ABSENT:  
None.

ATTEST: FLUVANNA COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

__________________
Mary L. Weaver, Clerk Shaun V. Kenney, Chairman



Board of Supervisors Minutes 
 May 16, 2012 

Page 11 
 



Board of Supervisors Minutes 
 May 16, 2012 

Page 12 
 

 



Board of Supervisors Minutes 
 May 16, 2012 

Page 13 
 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
County of Fluvanna 

Palmyra, Virginia 
 

RESOLUTION 
 
 At a regular monthly meeting of the Fluvanna County Board of Supervisors held on 
Wednesday, May 16, 2012, in Palmyra, Virginia, the following action was taken: 

 
  Present     Vote 
  Shaun V. Kenney, Chairman   YEA 
  Robert Ullenbruch, Vice Chairman  YEA 
  Mozell H. Booker    YEA     
  Joseph Chesser    YEA 
  Donald W. Weaver    YEA 
             
 
 On a motion by Mr. Weaver, seconded by Mr. Chesser, and carried by a vote of 5-0, the 
following resolution was adopted. 

 
RESOLUTION 

Recognizing Michael McGowan Jones Award of Eagle Scout Status 
 
WHEREAS, Michael McGowan Jones has completed all the requirements for becoming an 
Eagle Scout; and 
 
WHEREAS, Michael has been examined by an Eagle Scout Board of Review and deemed 
worthy of the Eagle Scout award; and 
 
WHEREAS, Boy Scout Troop 138 will be convening a Eagle Scout Court of Honor on May 20, 
2012 at 2:00 p.m. at Saints Peter and Paul Catholic Church, Palmyra, Virginia; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Fluvanna County Board of Supervisors joins 
Michael’s family and friends in congratulating him on his achievements and the award of Eagle 
Scout status. 
 
 
Adopted this 16th, day of May 2012 
by the Fluvanna County Board of Supervisors 
 
 
ATTEST:   
 
 
 
 
       
Shaun V. Kenney, Chairman 



Board of Supervisors Minutes 
 May 16, 2012 

Page 14 
 
 

FLUVANNA COUNTY, VIRGINIA 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

RURAL RUSTIC ROAD PROJECT 
ROUTE 606, HELLS BEND ROAD 

 

The Board of Supervisors of Fluvanna County, in regular meeting on the 16th day of May, 2012, 
adopted the following:  

RESOLUTION  

WHEREAS, Section 33.1-70.1 of the Code of Virginia, permits the improvement and 
hard surfacing of certain unpaved roads deemed to qualify for designation as a Rural Rustic 
Road; and  

WHEREAS, any such road must be located in a low-density development area and have no 
more than 1500 vpd; and  

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of Fluvanna County, Virginia (“Board”) desires to 
consider whether Route 606, Hells Bend Road, From: Route 608 To: Route 609 should be designated 
a Rural Rustic Road; and  

WHEREAS, the Board is unaware of pending development that will significantly affect the 
existing traffic on this road; and  

WHEREAS, the public has been made aware that this road may be paved with minimal 
improvements; and  

WHEREAS, the Board believes that this road should be so designated due to its 
qualifying characteristics; and  

WHEREAS, this road is in the Board’s six-year plan for improvements to the secondary 
system of state highways.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board hereby designates this road a Rural 
Rustic Road, and requests that the District Administrator for the Virginia Department of 
Transportation concur in this designation.  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Board requests that this road be hard surfaced and, to 
the fullest extent prudent, be improved within the existing right of way and ditch-lines to preserve as 
much as possible the adjacent trees, vegetation, side slopes, and rural rustic character along the road 
in their current state.  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that a certified copy of this resolution be forwarded to the 
District Administrator for the Virginia Department of Transportation. 

 
Recorded Vote ___5-0_______________ A Copy Teste:  
Moved By: __Mr. Weaver____________ 
Seconded By: __Mr. Chesser_________ Signed _______________________________________ 
Yeas: ____5______________________ Printed Name _____Shaun Kenney_________________ 
Nays: ____0______________________ Title _____Board of Supervisors, Chairman_____ 



Board of Supervisors Minutes 
 May 16, 2012 

Page 15 
 

 
FLUVANNA COUNTY, VIRGINIA 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
RURAL RUSTIC ROAD PROJECT 

ROUTE 715, STAG ROAD 
 

The Board of Supervisors of Fluvanna County, in regular meeting on the 16th day of May, 2012, 
adopted the following:  

RESOLUTION  

WHEREAS, Section 33.1-70.1 of the Code of Virginia, permits the improvement and 
hard surfacing of certain unpaved roads deemed to qualify for designation as a Rural Rustic 
Road; and  

WHEREAS, any such road must be located in a low-density development area and have no 
more than 1500 vpd; and  

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of Fluvanna County, Virginia (“Board”) desires to 
consider whether Route 715, Stag Road, From: Route 694 To: End of State Maintenance should be 
designated a Rural Rustic Road; and  

WHEREAS, the Board is unaware of pending development that will significantly affect the 
existing traffic on this road; and  

WHEREAS, the public has been made aware that this road may be paved with minimal 
improvements; and  

WHEREAS, the Board believes that this road should be so designated due to its 
qualifying characteristics; and  

WHEREAS, this road is in the Board’s six-year plan for improvements to the secondary 
system of state highways.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board hereby designates this road a Rural 
Rustic Road, and requests that the District Administrator for the Virginia Department of 
Transportation concur in this designation.  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Board requests that this road be hard surfaced and, to 
the fullest extent prudent, be improved within the existing right of way and ditch-lines to preserve as 
much as possible the adjacent trees, vegetation, side slopes, and rural rustic character along the road 
in their current state.  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that a certified copy of this resolution be forwarded to the 
District Administrator for the Virginia Department of Transportation. 

   
Recorded Vote ___5-0_______________ A Copy Teste:  
Moved By: __Mr. Weaver____________ 
Seconded By: __Mr. Chesser_________ Signed _______________________________________ 
Yeas: ____5______________________ Printed Name _____Shaun Kenney_________________ 
Nays: ____0______________________ Title _____Board of Supervisors, Chairman_____ 

 









 

 

Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 

between 

Fluvanna County Board of Supervisors (BOS) 

and 

Economic Development Authority of Fluvanna County, Virginia (EDA) 

  

Regarding a Microfinance & Strategic Funding Program 

 
This is an agreement between Fluvanna County Board of Supervisors, hereinafter called 
BOS and Fluvanna County Economic Development Authority, herein after called EDA. 
 
The BOS has made funds available for a Micro-Finance initiative.  Staff has worked with 
EDA in developing a conceptual Micro-Finance program. 
 
The EDA developed Micro-Financing procedures and applications in 2009, which are 
currently being modified and updated.   These guidelines and applications have been 
shared with county staff and the BOS.  EDA members have attended conferences to 
enhance their knowledge and skills in this area, and to establish contacts in other 
jurisdictions with whom to share experiences and best practices. 
 

I. PURPOSE & SCOPE 

The purpose of this MOU is to clearly identify the roles and responsibilities of 
each party as they relate to a Micro-Financing Program to assist existing 
businesses in Fluvanna County and attract established non-Fluvanna County 
businesses into the county.  Loans and/or grants will be offered by the EDA 
for the following purposes: 
 
A. Business Building including, but not limited to, expansion initiatives, new 

equipment, training and related investments to enable growth of the 
business economy in Fluvanna County; 

 
B. Business Re-Development, focused on assisting the proprietors of 

existing businesses – particularly those located in areas designated for 
business growth in the Comprehensive Plan – to expand their customer 
base by enhancing their business properties.  Near-term benefits of 
increased property tax revenues would be followed by increased 
employment opportunities and additional sales tax revenues. 

 
C. Business Attraction Incentives,  designed to encourage existing non-

Fluvanna Businesses to locate in, or expand into,  Fluvanna County. 

The success of the overall program will be measured by how well it achieves 
the goals and objectives of the Economic Development Plan as adopted by the 
BOS.  

 
 
 



 

 

BOS RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER THIS MOU 

Fluvanna County BOS will appropriate funds to start and maintain the 
program, at their discretion. 
  

II. EDA RESPONSIBILTIES UNDER THIS MOU 

 The Economic Development Authority of Fluvanna County will: 
 (1) Market, manage and administer the program, working with the Fluvanna 

County Director of Economic Development to identify potential clients;  
 (2) Review and process loan requests, and administer accounts; 
 (3) Provide written monthly activity updates to the BOS.   

(4) Maintain Micro-Finance funds in a separate restricted account. 
(5) Utilize the EDA attorney / legal counsel as necessary. 
(6) Earmark up to $2,500 of existing EDA funds for the initial marketing and 

administration efforts. 
 
The concept of this micro-financing program is that it will be self-funding as it matures. 
   
Should the program need to be terminated by the EDA all funds in the segregated account 
will be returned to Fluvanna County, and any outstanding loan assets will be transferred 
to the county. 
 
We, the undersigned have read and agree with this MOU.  Further, we have reviewed the 
proposed programs and approve it. 
 
The Fluvanna County Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
By: ________________________________________            Date: ____________ 
 
 
The Economic Development Authority of Fluvanna County, Virginia 
 
 
 
By: ________________________________________            Date: _____________ 



Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 

between 

Fluvanna County Board of Supervisors (BOS) 

and 

Fluvanna Education Foundation (FEF) 

 

Regarding a Microfinance & Strategic Funding Program 

For Workforce Development 

 
This is a memorandum of understanding between FLUVANNA COUNTY BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia, hereinafter called BOS; 
and the FLUVANNA EDUCATION FOUNDATION, a not-for-profit foundation organized under 
Virginia law and qualified under Section 501(c) (3) of the federal Internal Revenue Code to promote, 
aid and encourage educational and charitable purposes, activities and endeavors of every kind and 
description of and for or connected with the Fluvanna County Public Schools, their administrators, 
teachers, pupils, alone or in cooperation with governmental or other private bodies or agencies, 
hereinafter called FEF. 
 
 WHEREAS, BOS wishes to contribute money to make available to qualified citizens of  
Fluvanna County the FLUVANNA EDUCATION COMMUNITY SCHOLARSHIP which is 
administered by FEF, for the purposes of promoting the resources and advantages and promoting 
economic development of the County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, FEF wishes to make available scholarships including such money to the persons 
and for the purposes aforesaid; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the partners herein desire to enter into a Memorandum of Understanding setting 
forth their respective rights and obligations with respect to such money and scholarship; and 
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed by and between the parties as follows: 
 
 1.   BOS will contribute to the FEF money for the purposes set forth herein.  FEF to appropriate 
the funds according to the guidelines stipulated by the THOMAS JEFFERSON PARTNERSHIP FOR 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT (TJPED) for needed economic development careers.  The amount of 
any such contribution shall be in the sole discretion of the BOS. 
 
 2.   The FEF will provide scholarship funds through the Fluvanna Education Foundation 
Community Scholarship to such applicants that the Fluvanna Education Foundation shall determine 
based upon applications made for such funds. These scholarships will be awarded to those individuals 
for the purpose of developing a skilled and trained workforce in Fluvanna County according to the 
guidelines stipulated by the THOMAS JEFFERSON PARTNERSHIP FOR ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT (TJPED) for needed economic development careers. 
 
 3.    FEF may deposit such funds under the control of the Charlottesville Area Community 
Foundation, or such other entity as may be approved by BOS from time to time.  FEF shall account to 
BOS for the money contributed pursuant to this Memorandum of Understanding promptly upon 
request of the BOS, but in no event less than once per calendar year. 
 
  



We, the undersigned have read and agree with this MOU. Further, we have reviewed the proposed 
project and approve it. 
 
 
THE FLUVANNA EDUCATION FOUNDATION 
 
By__________________________________________ 
 
 
FLUVANNA COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
 
By__________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
cc: Agencies and Interested Parties 
 



CICMOUwFluvanna clean v3 pg 1 5/23/2012 

Memorandum of Understanding  
Between 

Fluvanna County and the Community Investment Collaborative  

For Economic Development Loan Administration 

 
 

This Memorandum of Understanding is made on _____ by and between the County of Fluvanna, 
hereinafter “the County” and the Community Investment Collaborative, hereinafter “the CIC,” a 
a Virginia non-stock corporation (IRS 501(c)(3)application pending).  
 
I. PURPOSE 

The Community Investment Collaborative (CIC) mission is to leverage community resources to 
provide capital and education to entrepreneurs who have difficulty accessing funding from 
traditional sources and who seek an educational support system that is relevant to their business 
needs. 
 

The Community Investment Collaborative and Fluvanna County wish to collaborate on the 
development of local economic development by encouraging small business entrepreneurs to 
gain the skills and initial capital they require to launch or expand their businesses.  CIC has 
developed a comprehensive model for entrepreneurial development and is actively seeking 
funding of a revolving loan fund to serve Charlottesville and the surrounding five-county region.  
The Fluvanna County Board of Supervisors has committed funds to further economic 
development through microlending within its community. This Memorandum of Understanding 
recognizes the mutual benefit of working together to enhance entrepreneurial opportunities by 
setting forth the responsibilities of the concerned parties, and clarifying work to be performed by 
both the CIC and the County staff. 
 
II. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES  

A list of general roles and responsibilities follows: 
 
 Community Investment Collaborative Responsibilities: 

1. Provide the fourteen-week training utilizing the WIBO curriculum twice a year in 
Charlottesville and to make this training available to residents of Fluvanna: in the event 
that the demand for the educational component of the program grows substantially, CIC 
agrees that it will work with the County to develop a mutually beneficial way to deliver 
the educational program in Fluvanna.  In the meantime, however, the interaction between 
City and County residents will serve as a good learning and networking experience for 
the entrepreneurs. 

2. Encourage Fluvanna entrepreneurs who have successfully completed the fourteen- week 
training program to apply to the CIC loan review committee for a micro-loan. 

3. Consider all Fluvanna applicants for a loan through the loan review process established 
by CIC. 

4. Inform the Fluvanna County Administration of all loan review CIC Board decisions. 



 

5. Ensure that in the event a loan is made to a Fluvanna resident, CIC will work with the 
Fluvanna Chamber of Commerce and other local business leaders to establish a network 
of mentors to pair with Fluvanna entrepreneurs. 

6. Require Fluvanna loan recipients to participate in the monthly peer loan repayment 
group, which will be held in Charlottesville.  In the event that the number of 
entrepreneurs in Fluvanna grows to a critical mass (such as ten) CIC agrees to hold 
monthly peer loan repayment groups in Fluvanna. 

7. Provide the County with a copy of CIC’s IRS non-profit determination letter, once 
received. CIC will continue to operate in a manner that maintains our non-profit status. 

 
8. Provide copies of Articles of Incorporation, or any other documents relating to the status 

of CIC to the County as requested for grant purposes.   
 

9. Finance:  
 

a. CIC will administer all funds received from the County as a restricted fund for the 
express purpose of issuing and administering loans made to Fluvanna entrepreneurs 
as detailed by this MOU. 
 

b. CIC will charge the restricted fund for loan and administrative costs associated with 
the full loan amounts awarded to County residents through the loan review process. 

 
i) Itemized separately from the loan amount, CIC will charge the 

restricted fund for all loan costs incurred in the loan construction 
process (UCC filing fee, credit bureau filing fee, legal fees currently 
estimated at a total of $75.00 per loan and a loan origination fee of 
1%). 
 

ii) CIC will charge the restricted fund administrative costs at an hourly 
rate of $40.00/hour for the development of county specific reports, 
monitoring of Fluvanna loans in excess of average time required per 
loan, the development of the mentor network and, in the event of 
program expansion to Fluvanna County, for the replication of and 
administration of the education program and or the peer loan 
repayment monthly meetings. Funds allocated for administration will 
be capped at 22% of the total of each loan issued. 
 

c. CIC will maintain fiscal records in accordance with GAAP (generally accepted 
accounting principles) and as required by grantors. 

 
d. CIC will maintain a loan loss reserve of at least 15% of the principal funds available 

for loan.  
 



 

10. Reports: 
a. Provide the County verification of Fluvanna residents’ application to the Fluvanna 

Education Foundation (FEF) for scholarships to attend the CIC training program. 

b. Provide the County verification of CIC program graduation or a status update in the 
event of program truancy for recipients of an FEF scholarship.  

c. Provide the County information as may be required for grant administration or 
applications, including but not limited to, balance sheet and income\expense 
statements. 

d. Provide the County quarterly reports including:  
o  Attendance record of Fluvanna loan recipients at peer loan repayment 

meetings and the status of each loan. 
o Associated costs for loan and administrative costs detailed in section 9 (a), 

(b)(i) and (b)(ii).  
 

Fluvanna County Responsibilities: 
1. Manage implementation of all Project Agreements related to this Memorandum of 

Understanding under the direction of the County Administrator or other designee. 
 

2. Attend CIC meetings as needed. 
 

3. Provide CIC staff with contact information about local area businesses that may act as 
mentors for CIC entrepreneurs or as discussion group leaders for future programs. 
 

4. Actively promote all CIC events to Fluvanna County and make CIC staff aware of 
relevant Fluvanna County events. 
 

5. Finance: 
 

a. As appropriated by the Board of Supervisors, disburse all funds directly to CIC in 
one lump sum for all projects that are partially or fully funded by virtue of this 
MOU.  

 
 
III FUNDING AGREEMENT   

1.  Loans will be repaid to CIC. Loan principal amounts will be held by CIC in a restricted 
account for the express purpose of reinvesting in new loans for Fluvanna entrepreneurs 
who have completed the CIC coursework. These new loans will be administered as 
outlined in this MOU. 
 

2. CIC will solely be responsible for loan work-out arrangements in the event the borrower 
has difficulty and will keep the County apprised of all decisions through a timely report. 
CIC will have no responsibility for repayment of any monies received from Fluvanna 
County in the event of non completion of the training course or default on the loan. 



 

 

IV. BILLING PROCESS 
1. All invoices will be sent directly to: 
 

Director of Finance 
County of Fluvanna 
132 Main Street 
PO Box 540 
Palmyra VA 22963 
 

2. Payment is due to CIC 30 days after invoice date. 
 
 
V.  ENDORSEMENTS:   

Activities under this Memorandum of Understanding may commence upon signature. The initial 
term of this Memorandum of Understanding shall expire on June 30, 2013 and shall renew 
automatically, from one year to the next unless one participant provides a written notice of its 
intention to modify or discontinue the Memorandum of Understanding 90 days before its 
expiration date. Discontinuation, modification or expiration of this Memorandum of 
Understanding should not affect projects undertaken before its expiration, modification or 
discontinuation. This agreement supersedes any and all previous such agreements. 
 
 
For Fluvanna County: 
 
 
 
Steven M. Nichols, County Administrator   (Date) 
 
 
 
 
For Community Investment Collaborative: 
 
 
 
 
Toan Nguyen, Chair, Board of Directors  (Date) 



 

TAB H 

 

Approve Issuance of RFP for 
Fork Union Station Design-Build 

Construction 

 

Information is forthcoming and 
will be available night of 

meeting 































































FLUVANNA COUNTY:  Return on Investment Study
Water and Sewer Infrastructure in Zion Crossroads  •  May 2012

Prepared by:

401 East Water Street  •  P.O. Box 1505 
Charlottesville, VA 22902-1505
(434) 979-7310  •  Virginia Relay Users Dial: 711 
info@tjpdc.org  •  www.tjpdc.org



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

1 

 

Table of Contents 
Executive Summary: ..................................................................................................................................... 3 

Purpose: ........................................................................................................................................................ 4 

Waterline Proposal ................................................................................................................................... 4 

Sewer Line Proposal .................................................................................................................................. 4 

Methodology: ............................................................................................................................................... 5 

Study Area ................................................................................................................................................. 5 

Existing Plans ............................................................................................................................................. 8 

Zion Crossroads Community Plan (2006) .............................................................................................. 8 

Northwest Fluvanna Corridor Study (2007) .......................................................................................... 8 

Fluvanna County Comprehensive Plan (2009) ...................................................................................... 9 

Fluvanna County Regional Water Supply Plan (2010) ........................................................................ 10 

Summary of Plans and Studies ............................................................................................................ 10 

Market Study........................................................................................................................................... 10 

Selection of Study Areas ..................................................................................................................... 10 

Development Trends ........................................................................................................................... 11 

Conclusions of Market Study .............................................................................................................. 12 

How the Return on Investment Model Works ........................................................................................ 12 

Model Structure ...................................................................................................................................... 13 

Calculations ............................................................................................................................................. 14 

Property Development ....................................................................................................................... 14 

Tax Revenue ........................................................................................................................................ 15 

Water and Sewer Revenue ................................................................................................................. 16 

Water and Sewer Costs ....................................................................................................................... 18 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

2 

 

Service Costs ....................................................................................................................................... 19 

Growth Scenarios: ...................................................................................................................................... 20 

No Water/Sewer-Line ............................................................................................................................. 20 

Slow Growth (with Water/Sewer) .......................................................................................................... 20 

Moderate Growth (with Water/Sewer) .................................................................................................. 22 

Expected Growth (with Water/Sewer) ................................................................................................... 23 

Strong Growth (with Water/Sewer) ....................................................................................................... 24 

Results: ....................................................................................................................................................... 25 

No Water/Sewer-Line ............................................................................................................................. 27 

Slow Growth ............................................................................................................................................ 27 

Moderate Growth ................................................................................................................................... 28 

Expected Growth .................................................................................................................................... 28 

Strong Growth ......................................................................................................................................... 29 

Appendix: .................................................................................................................................................... 30 

Proposal to Provide Water Service & a Sewer Collection System to Zion Crossroads ........................... 30 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

3 

 

Executive Summary: 
In January 2012, Fluvanna County requested that the Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission 
(TJPDC) develop a fiscal impact analysis on a proposed water and sewer-line project in the Zion 
Crossroads area.  The proposed waterline would extend to the Fluvanna Correctional Center for Women 
on US Route 250, from the Lake Monticello water system.  That line would expand to the remainder of 
Fluvanna County’s Zion Crossroads Community Planning Area (CPA).  Through an agreement with the 
Department of Corrections, the County would also provide sewer service for the Zion Crossroads CPA 
from the extra capacity in the system at the correctional center.  
 
To assess the financial implications of the water and sewer-line proposals, TJPDC staff developed a 
spreadsheet model.  This model includes calculations that identify the return on investment (ROI) for 
Fluvanna County.  Market research and the County’s existing plans served as the basis for the model’s 
assumptions for future growth.  Under several scenarios, the model calculates the net revenue in 
various market conditions.  It also considers a scenario without the water or sewer-lines, to provide a 
control. 
 
The purpose of TJPDC’s Return on Investment (ROI) study is to provide insight to local decision-makers 
to determine if the proposed water and sewer-line would be cost-effective for the County.  The final 
results provide figures for short- and long-term implications of an expanded public water and sewer 
system.  It also looks beyond financial factors, by identifying ways the area could develop under 
different growth scenarios.  Those growth forecasts will inform zoning and land use strategies in the 
Zion Crossroads area.   
 

Year 5 Cumulative Revenues/Costs 

Scenarios Gross Revenue Gross Cost Net Revenue 

No Waterline $ 7,417,327 -$ 10,003,801 -$ 2,586,474 

Slow Growth $ 16,438,091 -$ 16,346,267 $ 91,824 

Moderate Growth $ 17,321,799 -$ 16,461,695 $ 860,104 

Expected Growth $ 18,772,297 -$ 16,695,620 $ 2,076,676 

Strong Growth $ 20,521,385 -$ 16,974,296 $ 3,547,088 

 
 

Year 10 Cumulative Revenues/Costs 

Scenarios Gross Revenue Gross Cost Net Revenue 

No Waterline $ 15,502,507 -$ 20,295,270 -$ 4,792,763 

Slow Growth $ 36,174,012 -$ 34,167,189 $ 2,006,823 

Moderate Growth $ 40,096,505 -$ 34,763,989 $ 5,332,516 

Expected Growth $ 45,381,034 -$ 35,678,978 $ 9,702,056 

Strong Growth $ 52,445,081 -$ 36,890,570 $ 15,554,511 

 
 
 
 
 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

4 

 

Purpose: 
Fluvanna County requested that the Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission (TJPDC) develop a 
financial analysis of a proposed water and sewer-line project in the Zion Crossroads area.  The purpose 
of this Return on Investment (ROI) Study is to provide unbiased information to decision-makers.  The 
main tool in this analysis is a spreadsheet model, which staff developed to calculate the financial 
impacts for 10 years following project initiation.  This model is inclusive, accounting for all the costs and 
revenues associated with the proposed water/sewer-line.  It also calculates the costs and revenues that 
are connected with anticipated growth.  The model is transparent, allowing people to understand the 
assumptions and methodology, and easily modified, so decision-makers can make changes in 
assumptions and find instant results.  
 

The ROI model includes all of the contractual costs and revenues associated with the water and sewer-
line.  The proposal for this infrastructure would include three partners: Fluvanna County, Aqua Virginia 
and the Department of Corrections.  Aqua Virginia operates the Lake Monticello water system and 
proposes to extend that line into the Zion Crossroads area.  The Department of Corrections owns and 
operates the sewer system, located at the women’s prison on US Route 250.  Through an agreement 
with the County, the sewer service would also expand into the Zion Crossroads area.  The following 
payment and fees are proposed in contracts with these partners.  While the ROI model includes these 
specific costs, it is structured to be flexible and to calculate the financial implications of any proposed 
payments by the County. 
 

Waterline Proposal 
Aqua Virginia operates the Lake Monticello system, which currently has surplus water.  The proposal 
would allow Aqua Virginia to build a waterline to the Fluvanna Correctional Center for Women, thus 
providing water to that facility.  The waterline would also extend beyond the correctional center to the 
remainder of the Zion Crossroads Community Planning Area (CPA).  In the proposed contract, the 
County would own and operate the water system, with the authority to set fees and rates.  Fluvanna 
County would pay Aqua Virginia for the water and maintenance of the system.  The cost of water and 
maintenance would be $950,000 per year.  This covers the expenses for the first 127,000 gallons per day 
(GPD) in each year.  If the service area (excluding the prison) uses more than 127,000 GPD, then Aqua 
Virginia would charge Fluvanna County an additional $2.95 per 1,000 gallons.  These payments include 
the capital costs of constructing the waterline.  The County would not incur additional expenses for this 
project, beyond what is described above.  The proposal is included in the appendix. 
 

Sewer Line Proposal 
The Department of Corrections (DOC) owns and operates a sewer treatment facility at the correctional 
center, located at the west end of the study area.  The facility has extra capacity, allowing the County to 
extend sewer-lines to private users in the area.  Aqua Virginia will install, own and operate the sewer 
collection system for the study area.  The system will discharge to the correctional center, subject to an 
agreement with the County and DOC.  The DOC, and any other customers, will be billed a metered rate 
based on their water usage.  Fluvanna County will be responsible for a monthly payment to Aqua of 
$94,900 per year.  This minimum payment will entitle Fluvanna County up to 4,000 gallons per day 
(GPD) of flow.  For any usage over that 4,000 GPD, Fluvanna County will be responsible for the payment 
of $.10 per 1,000 gallons.  There will also be a charge of $2 per 1,000 gallons.  The proposal is included in 
the appendix. 
 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

5 

 

In the proposed contract with these partners, there is an inflation rate associated with the annual 
payments.  While this means that costs will increase, the ROI model and analysis does not include these 
rates.  Staff excluded inflation because revenue would increase at the same rate.  Under several test 
runs of the model, the presence or absence of inflation resulted in the same net revenue. 
 

Methodology: 
The Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission developed the Return on Investment Study and the 
model that calculated the study’s results.  The process began with a study area, which defined the limits 
of the proposed service area where public water and sewer would be available.  Staff reviewed existing 
plans and studies, to ensure that the 10-year forecasts would be consistent with all approved 
documents.  Staff conducted a market study to determine growth potential, with and without the 
infrastructure improvements.  Staff developed a spreadsheet model, which uses calculations of costs 
and revenues to identify the financial implications of the water/sewer-line proposals.  Once the model 
was in place, staff developed growth scenarios that would provide decision-makers with several possible 
outcomes for the future.   
 

Study Area 
The study area is the Zion Crossroads Community Planning Area (CPA), which includes the urban 
development area (figure 2).  The study area is intended to be consistent with the Fluvanna County 
Comprehensive Plan, which identifies these boundaries as a growth area (figure 1).  The study also 
includes properties that are adjacent to the waterline right-of-way, between Lake Monticello and the 
Zion Crossroads CPA.  While these properties are included, the model does not propose that these areas 
be served by the water or sewer-line.  Consequently, the model does not assume any growth in those 
locations. 

Figure 1: Future Land Use Map 

 
Fluvanna County Comprehensive Plan 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

6 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Intentionally Left Blank 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Fluvanna County

Albemarle 
County

Louisa County

US Hwy 250Richmond Rd

State Rte 616

Union Mills Rd

I- 64

US
 H

wy
 15

St
at

e 
Rt

e 
60

0

Tr
oy

 R
d

N 
Bo

st
on

 R
d

State Rte 676

State Rte 631

Ja
m

es
 M

ad
iso

n 
Hw

y

Paynes M
ill R

d

O
liv

er
 C

re
ek

 R
d

St
at

e 
R

te
 6

13

Hunters Lodge Rd

State Rte 633

State Rte 618

State Rte 799

St
at

e 
Rt

e 
63

4

By
be

es
 C

hu
rc

h 
Rd

Beaverdam
 R

d

State Rte 6
17

State R
te 696

Dogwood Dr

State Rte 607

State Rte 759

Lake Monticello Rd
Jefferson Dr E

Fox Run

Mechunk Creek Dr

Sunny F
ield Ln

Lake Rd

Zion Rd

Stanley Ln

Lit
tle

 C
ree

k R
d

Gho
st 

Dan
ce

 Ln

S 
Bo

st
on

 R
d

Stat
e R

te 
70

8

Bl
ue

 R
id

ge
 D

r

Poorhouse Ln

Industrial Dr

Ki
ow

a 
Ln

Creek R
d

Grey Stone Rd

Fi
el

ds
to

ne
 D

r

Marshall Rd

White Hall Rd

State Rte 627

River R
un Dr

Plateau Ln

Apache Trl

Cu
m

be
r F

ar
m

 D
r

State Rte 1030

Thom
as Farm

 Ln

Indigo Ln

Bybef Rd

C
hi

pp
ew

a 
Ln

Morris Rd

Mill 
Ln

Edd Ridge Ln

Mille
r R

d

Blue Ridge View Ln

S Keswick Dr

Jackson Rd

Kestrel Ln

Kathys Ln

Shepherd Ln

P Paw Ln

W W
ind

s L
n

Troy Heights Ln

Faith D
r

Tu
sc

ar
oa

 D
r

Willow Dr

Ar
ap

ah
o 

Tr
l

Carter Ln

Buck Ridge Rd

Prospect L
n

Wounded Knee Ln

M
em

ory Ln

Pine Grove Ct

M
oc

ki
ng

bi
rd

 L
n

H
at

ch
ec

hu
be

e 
R

d

Pine Forest Ln

Pinehurst Rd

Hunters Ln

La
fa

ye
tte

 D
r

W
es

tv
ie

w
 L

n
Country Ln

Ruby Ln

O
liver Ridge Ln

Workman Ct
Two Rivers Dr

Sunrise Ln

Shiloh C
t

Clar
k C

t

Kings Way

Meadow Ln

Trillium
 Ln

St
ate

 R
te 

68
9

Naylor Ln

D
ia

m
on

d 
R

d

Oak
lan

d F
arm

 W
ay

Hopi Way

Parsons Way

M
ec

hu
nk

 R
idg

e 
Ln

M
ea

de
 L

n

Lewis C
t

Iro
qu

oi
s 

W
ay

Starlite Park

H
azel Ln

Briarwood Rd

Arkquaige Ln

Cherry Ln

Warwick Ln

I- 64

S Keswick Dr

Cart
er 

Ln

State R
te 631

In
di

go
 L

n

W
ou

nd
ed

 K
ne

e 
Ln

St
at

e 
Rt

e 
63

1

Gr
ey

 S
to

ne
 R

d

I0 0.75 1.5 2.25 30.375
Miles

Figure 2: Zion Crossroads Waterline ROI:
Study Area and Existing Land Uses

Legend
Proposal

Water and Sewer-Line

Waterline

Urban Development Area

Community Planning Area

Existing Land Uses
Vacant

Residential

Office

Retail/Service

Industrial

Right-of-Way

Institutional

Correctional 
Center



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

7 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Intentionally Left Blank 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

8 

 

Existing Plans 
Staff reviewed existing plans as references for the study.  These documents helped develop growth 
scenarios and provided data on demographics, previous growth trends, water usage, etc.  Staff 
considered four plans and studies: the Zion Crossroads Community Plan, Northwest Fluvanna Corridor 
Study, Fluvanna County Comprehensive Plan and the Fluvanna County Regional Water Supply Plan.   

Zion Crossroads Community Plan (2006) 

This plan represents a collaborative effort between Fluvanna County citizens, staff and business owners, 
and the Thomas Jefferson Planning District Commission.  It was one in a series of community plans for 
Fluvanna County.  The plan makes the following recommendations to capitalize on the potential of Zion 
Crossroads as a major center of commerce, employment, and higher density residential uses.   
 
Create a distinct identity for the Zion Crossroads area which requires: 

1. Establish a formal gateway that captures the rural character of the area 
2. Define a village-scaled center 
3. Support mixed-use development 

 
Support Economic Development and Community Based Services: 

1. Capitalize on location and enhance existing land uses including enhanced tourism, 
recreation, and educational opportunities  

2. Develop a marketing strategy and plan for the area and its businesses 
3. Expand and diversify local tax revenue by encouraging higher intensity commercial 

development, encouraging businesses and retail that are locally-based, and providing 
additional opportunity to expand light industry development 

4. Provide appropriate infrastructure, including water and sewer services, and investigate the 
demand and cost of providing natural gas to the area  

Source: Zion Crossroads Community Plan, Page 4 

Northwest Fluvanna Corridor Study (2007) 

This is a transportation and land use study that focuses on the fastest growing portion of Fluvanna and 
Louisa Counties.  The study area is bounded to the north by Zion Crossroads and to the south by VA 53, 
passing through Palmyra.  This report summarizes the Corridor Study process, and provides a hands-on, 
how-to guide for achieving the region’s vision for the future.  This includes a Framework Plan that 
provides policymakers, planners, and the public with design guidelines and development tools to help 
achieve the common vision for the region’s future, and includes strategies for coordinating 
transportation and land use. 
 
A trend analysis developed as part of the study shows that based on current projections, the study area 
will have approximately 18,000 homes by the year 2050. If the current development patterns persist, it 
is projected that approximately 10,630 acres of land in the Northwest Corridor study area would be 
developed.  Under this plan, Zion Crossroads would develop into a regional mixed-use center.  The plan 
recommends the following land use designations for this area: 
 
 
 
 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

9 

 

Regional Mixed-Use  
Regional mixed-use development is characterized by a higher intensity and mixture of land uses 
than surrounding areas.  Compact blocks oriented around a mixed-use Main Street define the 
core of the Regional Center.  The regional mixed-use center has the largest diversity of uses, 
combining retail and office in close connection to residential and other varied uses.  This is the 
highest-density community element in the Corridor Study. 
Source: Northwest Fluvanna Corridor Study, Page 9 

 
Regional Employment 

The regional employment center is predominately devoted to employment uses, but still 
maintains a small mixed-use component to serve employees and surrounding residents.  
Employment uses may include professional office space, research facilities, storefront offices, 
and warehouse and light-industrial uses.   
Source: Northwest Fluvanna Corridor Study, Page 11 
 

Neighborhood Mixed-Use  
Neighborhood mixed-use areas will include a mix of retail and office uses at the center, with 
connected residential uses at the edge.  Although the neighborhood mixed-use element has a 
retail bias, a diverse integration of uses, including storefront retail, office, civic, and residential is 
recommended.  The neighborhood mixed-use element combines higher density retail and 
residential uses.   
Source: Northwest Fluvanna Corridor Study, Page 13 
 

Neighborhood Residential 
Neighborhood residential areas should provide a range of residential housing types and lot sizes.  
This includes a balance of single-family residences and some multi-family housing.  While 
predominately single-family residential, neighborhood residential areas should incorporate some 
degree of mixed-use, primarily in the way of multi-family residential.  Storefront retail and office 
may be integrated at a residential scale.   
Source: Northwest Fluvanna Corridor Study, Page 15 

Fluvanna County Comprehensive Plan (2009) 

In 2009, Fluvanna County adopted the latest version of their Comprehensive Plan, drawing from the Zion 
Crossroads Community Plan and Northwest Fluvanna Corridor Study.  As the guiding document for the 
County, the Comprehensive Plan influences land use policies and economic development efforts for the 
community, particularly the Zion Crossroads area.  The Comprehensive Plan also provides data that 
helps forecast future growth.  
 

The plan highlights Zion Crossroads as a Community Planning and Urban Development Area (UDA), a 
designation intended for areas that should receive the highest growth.  The plan anticipates that most 
new growth will occur at Zion Crossroads, which will develop into a large regional mixed-use center 
featuring employment centers as well as a diverse mix of retail opportunities and housing options.  The 
plan refers to the Virginia Employment Commission, which projected that Fluvanna County’s population 
will increase to 37,433 by the year 2020, and to 47,010 by the year 2030. As a result, the Zion Crossroads 
UDA is intended to accommodate between 11,742 and 21,319 new residents over the next 10 to 20 
years.  To support this growth, the plan also includes provisions for additional infrastructure, particularly 
water in Zion Crossroads.   



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

10 

 

Fluvanna County Regional Water Supply Plan (2010) 

Fluvanna County and the Town of Columbia prepared this plan to evaluate the current and future water 
supply needs in Fluvanna County to ensure that the water needs of the people living in the County will 
be met now and in the future.  The plan is designed to ensure that adequate and safe drinking water is 
available.  It is intended to encourage, promote and protect all other uses of water, through 
conservation and/or incentives.  The plan also includes recommendations for public water and sewer 
service in the Zion Crossroads area.  The County developed this plan to comply with the State Water 
Control Board’s Local and Regional Water Supply Planning Regulation. 

Summary of Plans and Studies 

Fluvanna County’s plans have several consistent themes and recommendations.  All of these documents 
recommend that Zion Crossroads serve as the primary growth area for the County.  With this 
designation, it is intended to capture the majority of new development in Fluvanna County.  Zion 
Crossroads would function as a regional mixed-use center with office, retail and residential uses.  These 
plans and studies also recommend that there be water and sewer infrastructure to support this future 
development. 
 

Market Study 
TJPDC Staff conducted a market study to determine reasonable assumptions about future growth.  The 
market study assessed the residential and nonresidential growth that occurred over the previous 
decade.  The time between 2000 and 2010 appeared to be the most reasonable sample and prediction 
for the future.  That decade includes periods with unusually high growth but it also included the 
economic downturn.  Staff believes that this provided an average for the next 10 years.   

Selection of Study Areas 

The Interstate 64 corridor served as the market area (figure 3).  Staff collected data on 10 interchanges 
that were similar to the study area.  These interchanges share common characteristics as exurban 
locations that have access to I-64 and have development potential.  The study area interchanges 
included: Crozet, Ivy, Keswick, Zion Crossroads, Ferncliff, Shannon Hill, Route 629, Gum Spring, Oilville 
and Ashland.  Staff excluded some interchanges along this corridor, such as exits near the City of 
Charlottesville and Richmond.  Due to their proximity to urbanized areas, these interchanges represent a 
different type of market.  For the interchanges that were included, the study areas had a radius of 
approximately 1 to 2 miles.  For residential growth, the market study included the number of housing 
units within each of these interchange areas.  For commercial and industrial uses, staff collected data on 
square footage of building area.  The square footage data came from various sources, including aerial 
photography, site plans, and local property records.  The market study ignored development with low 
probability of occurring in the future, such as the Wal-Mart Distribution Center in Louisa County.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

11 

 

Development Trends  

The market study allowed staff to see development trends throughout the I-64 corridor.  The Louisa 
County side of Zion Crossroads was the only interchange with public water and sewer.  In terms of 
commercial and industrial development, the benefit of these services is apparent (figure 4).  This 
northern side of the interchange added nearly 500,000 ft2 of commercial space and 70,000 ft2 of 
industrial space.  None of the other interchanges had significant growth in nonresidential development.  
This is consistent with research that suggests that these uses are dependent on public water and sewer.  
Conversely, residential development is less reliant on these public services (figure 5).  The market study 
revealed that most of the interchanges had significant increases in residential development.  The 
Fluvanna County side of Zion Crossroads had below average growth, in terms of residential 
development.  The Fluvanna County Regional Water Supply Plan indicated that the Zion Crossroads area 
has a low supply of accessible groundwater.  This makes it difficult to install private wells, thus limiting 
development.   
 

 

Figure 3: Market Area 

Figure 2: Interstate 64 Market Area 

Market Study Interchanges: Colors Highlight Census Blocks 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 4: Market Area 

Conclusions of Market Study 

The market study highlights the influence that water and sewer infrastructure may have on 
development.  The Louisa County portion of Zion Crossroads serves as the best comparison for what 
could happen in Fluvanna County, if the County chooses to extend water and sewer infrastructure to the 
area.  At the same time, there are differences between the two portions of Zion Crossroads.  The Louisa 
County side has better access to I-64.  Consequently, that area is more likely to have commercial uses 
that serve highway traffic.  This development would include certain retail businesses, drive-in 
restaurants, service stations and other similar uses.  The Fluvanna County portion of Zion Crossroads is 
set farther back from these roadways.  Due to its location, this area is more likely to develop with office 
space, though retail would continue to have significant potential as well.  The previous decade reveals 
that the Fluvanna County side is more suitable for these office or light industrial businesses.   
 

How the Return on Investment Model Works 
The ROI model is a spreadsheet, with multiple calculations, assumptions and readouts.  While the 
spreadsheet is complex, the fundamental analysis is relatively simple and can be described with the 
formula (Gross Revenue - Gross Cost = Net Revenue to the County).  Revenues and costs can be divided 
further into the following groups (table 1).   
 

Table 1: Revenues and Costs 

Revenues Costs 

Existing Development Existing Services 

Future Development Future Services 

Waterline Income Waterline Capital/Maintenance 

Sewer-Line Income Sewer-Line Capital/Maintenance 

 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

13 

 

Model Structure 
The ROI model is a large spreadsheet with several interrelated tabs (figure 6).  The tabs are grouped and 
ordered based on their function.  The first tab is the main display, which allows the user to enter 
assumptions and review summary results.  The second tab provides charts and tables, which provide 
greater detail of results in an easily understood format.  The next group of tabs functions like an engine 
room for the model.  This portion of the spreadsheet houses the equations and calculations on cost, 
revenue, water and sewer usage, developed area, building square footage, and housing units.  The next 
section of the spreadsheet is the property data.  These tabs contain property records on every parcel 
within the study area.  The data includes assessed property values, acreage, existing land uses, and 
building square footage.  All of this information feeds into the “engine room” for calculations.  The final 
tab contains the County’s Budget, which helps identify the service costs associated with development.   
 
 
 

Figure 5: Overview of ROI Model 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

First  
Group of Tabs 

Second  
Group of Tabs 

Third 
Group of Tabs 

Fourth 
(Final) Tabs 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Budget: 
 

County Budget, Services 
Costs, Debt Services 

Property Records: 
 

Acreage, Assessed Values, 
Existing Land Uses 

Scenarios: 
 

Calculations, Equations, 
Detailed Results 

Main Display: 
 

Inputs (Assumptions),  
Basic Results, Tables 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

14 

 

Calculations 
The following is a brief overview of how the model equations function.  Within each of the scenarios 
there are five sets of calculations, which pull from the assumptions entered in first tab of the 
spreadsheet.  The model calculates property development, tax revenue, water/sewer revenue, 
water/sewer costs and service costs.  These equations are in the scenario tabs of the spreadsheet. 

Property Development 

The first step of this analysis is determining growth.  The spreadsheet divides land uses into 6 categories: 
residential, office, retail/service, restaurants, industrial and vacant.  The County’s property records 
contain existing land use data, along with the acreage, assessed value and building square footage for 
each parcel.   
 
Each scenario has assumptions for how much growth will occur.  The model takes the year one figures 
and adds the new development at each year, through year 10 (table 2).  The model includes Floor Area 
Ratios (FARs), to determine how much acreage will be developed.  These figures set an average lot size 
for each housing unit or square foot of commercial/industrial space.  If an acre is defined as newly 
developed, then the model removes that acre from the vacant land use.  The model tracks vacant land 
to ensure there is still developable properties remaining and because vacant land has a lower assessed 
value, thus different tax revenue. 
 

Table 2: Property Development Equations 

Steps Equations 

1. Existing 
Development 

Residential:  
Existing # of Households 

 
Nonresidential: 

 Existing Square Feet of Nonresidential Uses 

2. Future 
Development 

Residential:  
New Households  

 
Nonresidential:  

New Nonresidential Development (ft2)  

3. Total  

Residential:  
Existing Households + New Households = Total Households 

 
Nonresidential:  

Existing Development (ft2) x New Development (ft2) = Total Development (ft2) 

4. Acreage of 
Development 

Residential:  
Total Households x Acres Per Household = Total Developed Acreage 

 
Nonresidential:  

Total Development (ft2) x Floor Area Ratio = Total Developed Acreage 

5. Acreage of 
Vacant Land 

Acreage of Vacant Land – Acreage of New Development = 
 New Acreage of Vacant Land 

 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

15 

 

Note: A Floor Area Ratio is the ratio of building floor area to the total lot area of the building site.  The 
FARs in the model came from examples of existing development in the region.  Staff identified various 
land uses in the Zion Crossroads area, including the Fluvanna and Louisa portions, to measure the 
average acreage and building square footage.  The acreage information came from local property 
records.  The building square footage came from various sources, including site plans, property records 
and measurements calculated from aerial photography.  Staff conducted the same process for random 
sites in other interchanges along the I-64 corridor, to ensure for a proper sample size.   

Tax Revenue 

Existing development generates revenue for the County through taxes.  The ROI model accounts for 
three categories of tax revenue: real estate, personal property and the county share of retail sales.  
Fluvanna County also has a machinery and tools tax, which staff did not consider in the analysis because 
it is not generating significant revenue.  The model also includes a placeholder for a meals tax.  While 
the County does not have a meals tax and none is proposed, the placeholder allows analysis of this 
option for the future. 
 

 Real Estate Tax:  The real estate tax rate is $.5981 per $100 of assessed value.  The model pulled 
from existing property records to determine assessed values.       
 

 Personal Property Tax:  The personal property tax is currently $4.15 per $100 of assessed value.  
Since vehicles are the primary form of personal property, the model needed data on average 
values for a standard personal automobile.  Staff found common vehicle models and identified 
the Blue Book value for each.  The American Community Survey was the source for average 
number of vehicles per household.   
 

 Retail Sales Tax:  The sales tax is 1% on the dollar for retail sales.  The source for sales data was 
retailsales.com.   This group compiles information from multiple sources, including company 
filings, government agencies, research firms and industry trade groups.  Currently, there is 
limited service and retail space in the study area.  Any existing businesses have relatively low 
sales per square foot, thus less tax revenue. 

 
In the future scenarios, the County collects tax revenue from all of the existing development, and all of 
the forecasted growth.  For future revenue, the ROI model continues to account for three categories of 
taxes: real estate, personal property and the County share of retail sales.  Inflation is not included in this 
assessment.  Since the inflation on cost and revenue would be the same, the net revenue would remain 
unchanged. 
 

 Real Estate Tax:  The model assumes that the real estate tax rate will remain at the adopted 
FY13 level of $.5981 per $100 of assessed value.  For future land values, staff referenced the 
County’s parcel and assessment data.  Staff used this data to estimate average values per acre 
for the various land uses in the model: residential, office, retail/service, restaurants, industrial 
and vacant.  These averages served as the assumptions for future land values for new 
development.  Staff also referenced land values on the Louisa County portion of Zion 
Crossroads, to estimate future values.  
 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

16 

 

 Personal Property Tax:  The model assumes that the personal property tax rate will remain at 
the adopted FY13 level of $4.15 per $100 of assessed value.  Staff used the same vehicles values 
and averages seen in the existing development calculations. 
 

 Retail Sales Tax:  Under the model scenarios, the sales tax rate would be unchanged, at 1% on 
the dollar.  The model keeps existing businesses and adds the sales average of future retail, 
which is expected to have higher sales per square foot.  The source for this data was 
retailsales.com.    

 
Table 3: Tax Revenue Equations 

Tax 
Category 

Equations 

1. Real 
Estate 

Total Acreage (per Land Use) x Average Value per Acre = Total Land Value (per Land Use) 
Total Land Value x Tax Rate = Value per $100 

Value per $100 x Tax Rate = Tax Revenue 
 

2. Personal 
Property 

Total Households x Average Vehicles per Household = Total Vehicles 
Total Vehicles x Average Value per Vehicle = Total Value of All Personal Property  

Total Value of All Personal Property / $100 = Value per $100 
Value per $100 x Tax Rate = Tax Revenue 

 

3. Sales 
Total ft2 of Retail x Average Sales per ft2 = Total Retail Sales 

Total Retail Sales x Tax Rate (%) = Tax Revenue 

Water and Sewer Revenue 

Aside from taxes, the proposed water and sewer line would generate additional revenue from 
connection fees and usage rates.  According to the assumptions in the analysis, the water system would 
be a significant source of revenue.  The model breaks up revenue into three categories:  connection 
fees, water rates and availability fees.   
 

 Water Connection Fees: A connection fee is a one-time charge for connecting to the water 
system.  A residential unit will typically have one connection.  Nonresidential uses, such as 
restaurants or retail stores, may have multiple connections.  These uses require larger volumes 
of water and the connections only have a limited capacity.  For nonresidential uses, there would 
be one connection for every 150 gallons per day.  This study assumes that each connection 
would cost $3,750, with the same rate applied to all uses.  The model assumes that all existing 
households would connect without charge.  Conversely, all existing businesses would pay for 
these connection fees. 
 

 Water Rates:  The water rate accounts for the daily usage of water, which would be tracked with 
a water meter.  The proposed fee is $8 per 1,000 gallons.  The proposed rate is consistent with 
those found other surrounding areas. 

 

 Water Availability Fee:  The final water system revenue source is the availability fee.  Developers 
or others would pay this fee to secure a set amount of water capacity.  The model assumes the 
County would receive $500,000 per year in fees for the first 6 years.  The model assumes that all 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

17 

 

existing households would connect without charge.  Conversely, all existing businesses would 
pay for these connection fees. 

 

 Sewer Connection Fees:  The sewer system would also generate revenue using a similar fee 
structure.  The County would charge a connection fee of $4,500, for anyone who connects to 
the system.  As with the water services, there would be one connection per household or 
multiple connections for nonresidential uses.  For nonresidential uses, each connection would 
carry a maximum of 150 GPD.  The model assumes that all existing households would connect, 
but there would be no charge for those connections.  

 

 Sewer Rates:  Fluvanna County would collect $10 for every 1,000 gallons of sewage, as a service 
charge.  The system operators would calculate the amount of wastewater for each connection, 
based on the amount of water coming into the property.  The assumption is that for every gallon 
that goes into a home or business, approximately one gallon will exit as sewage.  This is a 
common assumption for these systems. 

 
Table 4: Equations Calculating Water and Sewer Revenue  

Fee Equations 

1. Connection 
Fee 

Residential: 
Total Households x Connection Fee = Total Residential Revenue 

 
Nonresidential:  

Total ft2 (per Land Use) x Average Water Usage = Total Water Usage 
Total Water Usage / 150 GPD = # of Connections 

# of Connections x Connection Fee = Total Nonresidential Revenue 
 

Total Residential Revenue + Total Nonresidential Revenue = Total Revenue 

2. Water Usage 
Total Water Usage / 1,000 Gallons = Gallons per 1,000 

Gallons per 1,000 x Water Fee = Total Revenue 

 
Note: The model includes national averages for water consumption, with the data originating from 
multiple online resources.  Staff referenced a large sample of sources, to ensure consistency.  Staff also 
referred to the Fluvanna County Regional Water Supply Plan and consulted Fluvanna County staff 
members who are responsible for operating the County’s existing public water systems. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

18 

 

Water and Sewer Costs 

The proposed water and sewer-lines generate revenue, but they also have costs.  The County would pay 
Aqua Virginia and the Department of Corrections for operations, maintenance and supply.  Aqua Virginia 
provided the proposed water costs that the County would pay, as part of a contractual agreement.  A 
contract would set those figures as well.  These payments include the capital costs of constructing the 
waterline.  The County would not have additional expenses for this project, beyond what is described 
below. 
 

 Meter Box Maintenance:  The model assumes that the County would pay $250 per water meter, 
for maintenance.  This is a one-time cost associated with any potential issues that may arise 
with each meter.   
 

 Cost of Water:  The County purchases water from Aqua Virginia, the supplier.  Each year, 
Fluvanna County would pay $950,000 to Aqua Virginia for the first 127,000 GPD.  For any 
additional water usage over that amount, the County would pay $2.95 per 1,000 gallons.   
   

 Sewer Costs:  The sewer costs are structured differently.  The Department of Corrections would 
charge a baseline charge of $94,900 per year to the County.  The County would also have to pay 
for the sewage capacity, which would be $2 per 1,000 gallons of wastewater.  An additional $.10 
per 1,000 gallons would cover maintenance. 

 
 
 

Table 5: Equations Calculating Water and Sewer Cost 

Fees Equations 

1. Waterline 
Meter Box 
Maintenance 

Total Number of Connections x Meter Box Maintenance Fee = Total Revenue 

2. Cost of 
Water 

Total Water Usage – 127,000 = Water Usage over Baseline 
Water Usage over Baseline / 1,000 = Water Usage per 1,000 Gallons 

Water Usage per 1,000 Gallons x Water Rate = Total Revenue 

3. Sewer 
Maintenance 

Water Usage / 1,000 = Sewage per 1,000 Gallons 
Sewage Usage per 1,000 Gallons x Sewer Rate = Total Revenue 

4. Sewer 
Service 

Water Usage / 1,000 = Sewage per 1,000 Gallons 
Sewage Usage per 1,000 Gallons x Sewer Rate = Total Revenue 

 

 

 

 

 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

19 

 

Service Costs 

All of the model scenarios begin with the costs of existing development.  The ROI model divides these 
costs into three groups: schools, debt services and administrative.   
 

 Schools:  The Department of Education has figures on the local cost per student for school 
operations that also went into the model.  For every student in the study area, the model 
assigns a cost of $4,302.     
 

 Debt Services:  Debt services account for payments on the new high school.  The County’s total 
annual budget payments served as the main reference for the service costs.  Staff summed the 
total acreage of developed parcels (with over $30,000 of improved value) for the entire County.  
Staff divided that figure by the total value of the general fund to determine service costs per 
developed acre.  The model charges $96.6 per developed acre for this item. 
 

 Administrative:  The total cost for county administration goes towards the daily operations of 
the County.  This includes the expenses for public safety, parks and recreation, community 
programs and other items under the County budget.  To calculate the average costs, staff used 
the same process described under debt services, except staff divided the developed acreage by 
the “Debt Services Fund” in the budget.  The model charges $176 per developed acre for 
administrative costs. 

 

The model assumes that future development will have the same costs per developed acre for debt 
services and administration.  Staff used the same figures for schools as well.  The model charges $96.6 
per developed acre for debt serves and $176 per developed acre for administrative costs.  The County 
would also pay $4,302 per student.  The model does not include inflation into these calculations, 
because the inflation would influence costs and revenues equally.  The net revenue and comparisons 
between scenarios are the same, regardless of inflation.   
 
 

Table 6: Service Cost Equations 

Steps Equations 

1. Schools 
Total Households x # of Students per Household = Total Students 

Total Students x Cost per Student = Total School Costs 

2. Debt Services Total Developed Acreage x Average Cost per Developed Acre = Total Costs 

3. Administrative 
Services 

Total Developed Acreage x Average Cost per Developed Acre = Total Costs 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

20 

 

Growth Scenarios: 
The market study and existing plans served as the basis 
for future growth scenarios.  For a baseline, staff used 
trends from the previous decade to develop a control 
scenario.  The remaining “water/sewer-line” scenarios 
show what could occur if the County decides to install 
the lines.  While the market study provided credible 
assumptions for the future, there is still a degree of 
uncertainty with forecasting.  To account for this 
uncertainty, staff provided a range of scenarios that 
account for lower and higher than expected growth rates.   
 

No Water/Sewer-Line 
The “no water/sewer-line” scenario shows the 
financial implications of forgoing the proposed 
water and sewer-lines.  Under this scenario, the 
study area would develop as it did in the 
previous decade (table 8).  With 24 homes, 
there would be 68 new residents in the study 
area.  The 30,000 ft2 of office space would 
create 120 new jobs.  The 15,000 ft2 of retail 
would be equivalent to a small store.  There 
would no restaurants, but industrial growth 
would continue at high rates.  While this scenario assumes a high growth rate for industrial, it is unlikely 
that this development will occur.  There are a limited number of warehouses, lumber mills and recycling 
centers in the region.  Fluvanna County will not be able to continue developing these uses.  At the same 
time, the previous decade provides a reasonable control scenario for the next 10 years without a water 
or sewer-line. 
 

Slow Growth (with Water/Sewer) 
The slow growth scenario is intended to provide a 
conservative forecast for the 10-year planning horizon 
(table 9).  The measuring stick for these scenarios is the 
Louisa County portion of Zion Crossroads.  The slow 
growth scenario assumes that the study area would 
grow faster than it did in the past decade, but at a rate 
that is a fraction of what occurred in Louisa County.  

Residential 

This scenario anticipates 63 new housing units.  The Louisa County side of Zion Crossroads added 340 
housing units between 2000 and 2010.  Consequently, the 63 unit forecast constitutes 19% of the 
growth that occurred over the county line.  To provide additional perspective, the slow growth scenario 
equates to 169 new residents, which includes 26 new students.   

Table 7: Louisa County Zion Crossroads – 
Growth between 2000 – 2010 

Land Use Growth 

Residential 340 Homes  

Office 10,000 ft2   

Retail/Service 488,000 ft2  
 

Restaurants 5,000 ft2   

Industrial 68,000 ft2   

Table 8: Fluvanna County Zion Crossroads  
 

Land Use 2000-2010 10-Year Projection 

Residential 24 Homes 24 Homes 

Office 30,000 ft2 30,000 ft2 

Retail/Service 15,000 ft2
 

15,000 ft2
 

Restaurants 0 ft2 0 ft2 

Industrial 259,702 ft2 259,702 ft2 

Table 9: Slow Growth Scenario – 
10 Year Forecast 

Land Use Growth 

Residential 63 Homes 

Office 45,000 ft2   

Retail/Service 153,000 ft2  
 

Restaurants 9,000 ft2   

Industrial 54,000 ft2   



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

21 

 

Office 

The slow growth scenario would add 45,000 ft2 of office space.  Compared to the previous 10 years, this 
would be a 50% increase in square footage.  While this appears to be an aggressive forecast, there are 
two factors that support these figures as “slow growth”.  First, the installation of water and sewer 
infrastructure would increase the rate of construction, which the market study and research supports.  
Second, much of Fluvanna County’s industrial development resembles office space.  Over the last 10 
years, there is a trend towards this “light industrial” use.  The slow growth scenario assumes that this 
trend will continue, creating 180 new jobs from office space. 

Retail/Service 

The slow growth scenario anticipates 153,000 ft2 of new retail and service space in the next 10 years.  
The market study and research reveals that retailers depend on water and sewer systems.  Between 
2000 and 2010, the Louisa County portion of Zion Crossroads grew by approximately 500,000 ft2 in retail 
space.  With this as a reference, the slow growth scenario equates to one third of the retail 
development in the Louisa County portion.  153,000 ft2 of new retail and service space is equivalent to a 
small convenience center.  This may include a grocery store with a retail anchor and several small retail 
stores.  A large big-box store, such as a Super Wal-Mart, has over 200,000 ft2.  In terms of employment, 
the slow growth scenario would create 162 jobs. 

Restaurants  

The scenario anticipates 9,000 ft2 for restaurant space.  The average fast food establishment is 
approximately 3,000 square feet.  An average dine-in restaurant chain requires 5,000 to 6,000 square 
feet.  With these figures, the slow growth scenario would be equivalent to 3 fast food establishments or 
combination of 1 fast food and 1 dine-in restaurant.  
 
Between 2000 and 2010, the Louisa County side of Zion Crossroads only had one dine-in restaurant, the 
IHOP.  Since that time, several new restaurants are planned, built or under discussion.  Given this 
demand, the slow growth scenario includes assumptions that this trend will expand into the Fluvanna 
County study area. 

Industrial  

With 54,000 ft2 projected for the next 10 years, this scenario assumes that the industrial growth rate 
decline sharply from the past 10 years.  This study anticipates four factors that will lead to this decline.  
First, many of the previous industrial developments are uncommon.  The chances of the County finding 
similar opportunities are low.  Second, future land uses will conflict with industrial uses.  This scenario 
includes assumptions that residential and retail will be more prevalent in the area.  According to market 
research in the I-64 corridor, industrial growth declines as development of these conflicting land uses 
occur.  Third, there is a trend towards light industrial uses that resemble office space.  The County’s new 
industrial space focused more on research, rather than warehouses or manufacturing.  This trend will 
likely continue and result in more office than industrial growth.  Fourth, Fluvanna County’s economic 
development efforts are focused on office and retail space, with less emphasis on industrial.  This focus 
is present in the Comprehensive Plan and other local planning documents.   
 
To provide additional perspective, 54,000 ft2 is equivalent to 2 to 3 medium-sized warehouses.  An 
example of a medium-sized warehouse is the Blue Ridge Mountain Sports building off Route 15.  This 
would be one-fifth of the industrial growth experienced in this area between 2000 and 2010. 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

22 

 

Moderate Growth (with Water/Sewer) 
The moderate growth scenario is intended to provide a 
forecast for the 10-year planning horizon that is below 
expectations (table 10).  While these growth 
assumptions are more optimistic than those in the 
“slow growth” scenario, they are still below the rates 
anticipated from the market study.  Again, the Louisa 
County side of Zion Crossroads served as a main 
reference.   

Residential  

This scenario anticipates 90 new housing units.  This constitutes 26% of the growth that occurred in Zion 
Crossroads (Louisa County), since 2000.  The moderate growth scenario equates to 241 new residents, 
including 37 new students.   

Office 

The moderate growth scenario anticipates 94,500 ft2 of office space.  This would equate to 378 
employees.  Considering that the Zion Crossroads area is the major growth area in the County, it is 
reasonable to assume that most future employment would occur within this study area.   

Retail/Service  

The moderate growth scenario anticipates 220,500 ft2 of new retail and service space in the next 10 
years.  Between 2000 and 2010, the Louisa County portion of Zion Crossroads grew by approximately 
500,000 ft2 in retail space.  With this as a reference, the moderate growth scenario for Fluvanna County 
would account for less than half of the retail space developed in the Louisa County portion.  This is 
equivalent to an average big-box store, surrounded by several smaller retailer outparcels.  Alternatively, 
it would be roughly the same size as a large big-box retailer.  The moderate scenario would result in a 
commercial center that is less than half the size of the “Shoppes at Spring Creek” development, located 
in the Louisa County portion of Zion Crossroads.  In terms of employment, the moderate growth 
scenario would create 233 jobs. 

Restaurants  

This scenario anticipates 9,000 ft2 for restaurant space, which is the same as the slow growth scenario.  
With the average figures discussed in the previous scenario, this square footage would be equivalent to 
3 fast food establishments or combination of 1 fast food and 1 dine-in restaurant.   

Industrial  

With 54,000 ft2 projected for the next 10 years, this scenario anticipates the same rate shown in the 
slow growth scenario.  As stated under the description for that scenario, industrial growth will be limited 
in the future.  Most of the light industrial uses will more closely resemble offices and could be included 
under that category.  
 
 
 
 

Table 10: Moderate Growth Scenario – 
10 Year Forecast 

Land Use Growth 

Residential 90 Homes 

Office 94,500 ft2   

Retail/Service 220,500 ft2  
 

Restaurants 9,000 ft2   

Industrial 54,000 ft2   



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

23 

 

Expected Growth (with Water/Sewer) 
The expected growth scenario is intended to provide 
the most likely forecast for the 10-year planning 
horizon (table 11).  The County’s planning documents 
and the market study served as the basis for this 
scenario. The Comprehensive Plan encourages and 
supports these growth assumptions (as described on 
page 9).  The Regional Water Supply Plan also accounts 
for similar growth assumptions and provides 
recommendations for public water systems that would meet the water supply needs from this 
development.  While this is the expected forecast, much of the growth is still a fraction of what occurred 
in Louisa County over the past 10 years, as seen in the market study.   

Residential  

This scenario anticipates 126 new housing units.  This would account for nearly 40% of the residential 
growth that took place on the Louisa County side of Zion Crossroads between 2000 and 2010.  These 
126 housing units would bring in 337 new residents to the study area, which would include 52 new 
students.   

Office  

The expected scenario would add 135,000 ft2 of office space.  That is equivalent to 540 employees.  

Retail/Service  

The scenario anticipates 292,500 ft2 of new retail and service space in the next 10 years.  This is the 
equivalent to 2 retail anchors, a grocer and several small retailers.  It would also equal a commercial 
center that is three fourths the size of the “Shoppes at Spring Creek.”  In term of employment, it would 
create 310 jobs.  

Restaurants  

There would be 22,500 ft2 for restaurant space in the next decade.  This is equal to 3 dine-in restaurants 
and a fast-food establishment.  There are several new restaurants are recently built or underway in the 
area, which would suggest there is demand for future growth. 

Industrial  

The expected growth scenario anticipates 63,000 ft2 of industrial space.  This is equivalent to 2 to 3 
medium-sized warehouses or 1 large warehouse.  An example of a large warehouse would be the Mac 
Steel building, located on Route 250 in Zion Crossroads.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 11: Expected Growth Scenario – 
10 Year Forecast 

Land Use Growth 

Residential 126 Homes 

Office 135,000 ft2   

Retail/Service 292,500 ft2
 

Restaurants 22,500 ft2 

Industrial 63,000 ft2 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

24 

 

Strong Growth (with Water/Sewer) 
 The strong growth scenario is intended to provide the 
best case scenario for the 10-year planning horizon 
(table 12).  These rates are higher than expected.  The 
market study and existing plans feed into these 
assumptions. 
 

Residential  

The strong growth scenario anticipates 180 new housing units by year 10.  The scenario equates to 482 
residents, which includes 74 students.   

Office  

The strong growth scenario anticipates 180,000 ft2 of office space.  This would equate to 720 employees.   

Retail/Service  

The strong growth scenario anticipates 409,500 ft2 of new retail and service space in the next 10 years.  
This is equivalent to a regional shopping center that has 2 large big-box stores with several small retail 
stores.  The square footage would be slightly less than the size of the “Shoppes at Spring Creek.”  In 
terms of employment, this scenario creates 433 jobs. 

Restaurants  

This scenario anticipates 27,000 ft2 for restaurant space.  This is equivalent to 4 dine-in restaurants and a 
fast-food establishment or similar combination.      

Industrial  

With 63,000 ft2 projected for the next 10 years, this scenario assumes that the industrial growth rate will 
decline sharply from the past 10 years.  This assumption is equivalent to 2 to 3 medium-sized 
warehouses or a large warehouse.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 12: Strong Growth Scenario – 
10 Year Forecast 

Land Use Growth 

Residential 180 Homes 

Office 180,000 ft2   

Retail/Service 409,500 ft2
 

Restaurants 27,000 ft2 

Industrial 63,000 ft2 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

25 

 

Results: 
According to the model, the Zion Crossroads CPA currently results in a net loss for Fluvanna County.  
Based on the “existing development” scenario, the County collects approximately $1,639,811 of gross 
revenue from the study area.  This revenue comes from real estate, property and sales taxes.  
Conversely, the County spends approximately $1,977,747 in expenses for the Zion Crossroads area, 
paying for schools, debt services and administrative services.  This results in a net loss of -$ 337,935 
(table 13).   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The model provides detailed results for the next 10 years, in 5 different scenarios.  The “No 
Water/Sewer-Line” scenario indicates what would occur over the next 10 years, if the County decided 
not to build a waterline.  This scenario assumes that the Zion Crossroads area would continue 
developing as it had in the previous decade, from 2000 to 2010.  The remaining scenarios show what 
would occur if the County did build the proposed water and sewer lines.  The “slow growth” scenario 
illustrates a conservative growth estimate.  The “moderate scenario” is intended to provide a lower than 
expected forecast.  The “expected” scenario provides estimates that are consistent with the market 
study for the I-64 corridor and is intended to provide the most likely forecast.  The “strong growth” 
scenario shows the results of higher than expected growth.  The following table records the results of 
these scenarios after year 5.  
 

Table 14: Year 5 Cumulative Revenues/Costs 

Scenarios Gross Revenue Gross Cost Net Revenue 

No Waterline $ 7,417,327 -$ 10,003,801 -$ 2,586,474 

Slow Growth $ 16,438,091 -$ 16,346,267 $ 91,824 

Moderate Growth $ 17,321,799 -$ 16,461,695 $ 860,104 

Expected Growth $ 18,772,297 -$ 16,695,620 $ 2,076,676 

Strong Growth $ 20,521,385 -$ 16,974,296 $ 3,547,088 

 
 
After year 5, there is a clear difference between the scenarios (table 14).  The “No Water/Sewer-Line” 
scenario would have net revenue of -$2,586,474.  At year 5, the slow growth scenario still shows 
positive net revenue of $91,824.  The remaining scenarios indicate positive net revenue as well.  After 
year 10, the “no water/sewer-line” scenario has net revenue of -$4,792,763.  All of the remaining 
scenarios have positive net revenue (table 15).  
 
 
 
 

Table 13: Existing Costs and Revenues 

Revenue  Costs 

Real Estate Tax $ 1,401,357 School  -$ 770,789 

Property Tax $ 198,204 High School Debt Ser. -$ 427,704 

Sales Tax $ 40,250 Administrative -$ 779,253 

Total Revenue $ 1,639,811 Total Costs -$ 1,977,747 

Total = -$ 337,935 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

26 

 

Table 15: Year 10 Cumulative Revenues/Costs 

Scenarios Gross Revenue Gross Cost Net Revenue 

No Waterline $ 15,502,507 -$ 20,295,270 -$ 4,792,763 

Slow Growth $ 36,174,012 -$ 34,167,189 $ 2,006,823 

Moderate Growth $ 40,096,505 -$ 34,763,989 $ 5,332,516 

Expected Growth $ 45,381,034 -$ 35,678,978 $ 9,702,056 

Strong Growth $ 52,445,081 -$ 36,890,570 $ 15,554,511 

 
 
 

Figure 6: Annual Cumulative Net Revenue (10-Year Horizon) 
 
The line graph (figure 7), illustrates the scenario results over the 10-year planning horizon.  Each 
scenario begins with the snapshot of current day, -$403,774.  The graph illustrates the cumulative net 
revenue, as opposed to the annual net revenue.  Cumulative revenue shows the total costs and 
revenues from the current and previous years combined.  This format shows the total financial impact 
on Fluvanna County. 
 
Several factors contribute to the shape of the line graphs.  The waterline/sewer-line scenarios show a 
sharp increase in year 1.  The connect fees from existing businesses and water/sewer usage fees 
contribute to this increase.  All of the existing businesses connect to the system in year 1, along with one 
tenth of the existing residences.  The availability fee also contributes to the shape of the graph.  From 
year 1 through year 6, the County would collect $500,000 per year, via contracts with other jurisdictions 
and/or developers.  The slope of the lines decreases in the graph, starting at year 7.  This is due to the 
availability fee.   
 
The following tables (table 16-20) show a more detailed breakdown of the results.  Under each scenario 
is a record of gross costs, gross revenue, annual net revenue and cumulative net revenue for each year.   



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

27 

 

No Water/Sewer-Line 
 

Table 16: Detailed Results for No Water/Sewer-Line Scenario 

Year Gross Revenue Gross Cost Annual Net 
Revenue 

Cumulative Net 
Revenue 

Year 0 $1,639,811 -$1,977,747 -$337,935 -$337,935 

Year 1 $ 1,430,037 -$ 1,977,747 -$ 547,709 -$ 547,709 

Year 2 $ 1,456,751 -$ 1,989,253 -$ 532,502 -$ 1,080,211 

Year 3 $ 1,483,465 -$ 2,000,760 -$ 517,295 -$ 1,597,506 

Year 4 $ 1,510,180 -$ 2,012,267 -$ 502,087 -$ 2,099,593 

Year 5 $ 1,536,894 -$ 2,023,774 -$ 486,880 -$ 2,586,474 

Year 6 $ 1,563,608 -$ 2,035,280 -$ 471,673 -$ 3,058,146 

Year 7 $ 1,590,322 -$ 2,046,787 -$ 456,465 -$ 3,514,611 

Year 8 $ 1,617,036 -$ 2,058,294 -$ 441,258 -$ 3,955,869 

Year 9 $ 1,643,750 -$ 2,069,801 -$ 426,051 -$ 4,381,920 

Year 10 $ 1,670,464 -$ 2,081,307 -$ 410,843 -$ 4,792,763 

 
 
 
 
 

Slow Growth 
 

Table 17: Detailed Results for Slow Growth Scenario 

Year Gross Revenue Gross Cost Annual Net 
Revenue 

Cumulative Net 
Revenue 

Year 0 $1,639,811 -$1,977,747 -$337,935 -$337,935 

Year 1 $ 4,096,045 -$ 3,168,588 $ 927,457 $ 927,457 

Year 2 $ 2,664,954 -$ 3,204,498 -$ 539,544 $ 387,913 

Year 3 $ 2,945,326 -$ 3,264,446 -$ 319,120 $ 68,793 

Year 4 $ 3,225,697 -$ 3,324,394 -$ 98,696 -$ 29,904 

Year 5 $ 3,506,069 -$ 3,384,341 $ 121,728 $ 91,824 

Year 6 $ 3,786,441 -$ 3,444,289 $ 342,152 $ 433,976 

Year 7 $ 3,566,812 -$ 3,504,237 $ 62,576 $ 496,552 

Year 8 $ 3,847,184 -$ 3,564,184 $ 283,000 $ 779,551 

Year 9 $ 4,127,556 -$ 3,624,132 $ 503,424 $ 1,282,975 

Year 10 $ 4,407,927 -$ 3,684,080 $ 723,848 $ 2,006,823 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

28 

 

Moderate Growth 
 

Table 18: Detailed Results for Moderate Growth Scenario 

Year Gross Revenue Gross Cost Annual Net 
Revenue 

Cumulative Net 
Revenue 

Year 0 $1,639,811 -$1,977,747 -$337,935 -$337,935 

Year 1 $ 4,096,045 -$ 3,168,588 $ 927,457 $ 927,457 

Year 2 $ 2,790,434 -$ 3,220,280 -$ 429,847 $ 497,610 

Year 3 $ 3,050,697 -$ 3,239,959 -$ 189,262 $ 308,348 

Year 4 $ 3,511,936 -$ 3,392,498 $ 119,438 $ 427,786 

Year 5 $ 3,872,687 -$ 3,440,370 $ 432,318 $ 860,104 

Year 6 $ 4,233,439 -$ 3,513,733 $ 719,706 $ 1,579,810 

Year 7 $ 4,094,190 -$ 3,587,096 $ 507,094 $ 2,086,904 

Year 8 $ 4,454,941 -$ 3,660,459 $ 794,482 $ 2,881,387 

Year 9 $ 4,815,692 -$ 3,733,822 $ 1,081,871 $ 3,963,257 

Year 10 $ 5,176,444 -$ 3,807,185 $ 1,369,259 $ 5,332,516 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Expected Growth 
 

Table 19: Detailed Results for Expected Growth Scenario 

Year Gross Revenue Gross Cost Annual Net 
Revenue 

Cumulative Net 
Revenue 

Year 0  $1,639,811 -$1,977,747 -$337,935 -$337,935 

Year 1 $ 4,096,045 -$ 3,168,588 $ 927,457 $ 927,457 

Year 2 $ 2,984,835 -$ 3,243,454 -$ 258,619 $ 668,838 

Year 3 $ 3,440,987 -$ 3,335,657 $ 105,330 $ 774,168 

Year 4 $ 3,897,139 -$ 3,427,860 $ 469,279 $ 1,243,448 

Year 5 $ 4,353,291 -$ 3,520,063 $ 833,229 $ 2,076,676 

Year 6 $ 4,809,443 -$ 3,612,266 $ 1,197,178 $ 3,273,854 

Year 7 $ 4,765,595 -$ 3,704,469 $ 1,061,127 $ 4,334,981 

Year 8 $ 5,221,748 -$ 3,796,672 $ 1,425,076 $ 5,760,057 

Year 9 $ 5,677,900 -$ 3,888,875 $ 1,789,025 $ 7,549,082 

Year 10 $ 6,134,052 -$ 3,981,078 $ 2,152,974 $ 9,702,056 

 
 
 
 
 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

29 

 

Strong Growth 
 

Table 20: Detailed Results for Strong Growth Scenario 

Year Gross Revenue Gross Cost Annual Net 
Revenue 

Cumulative Net 
Revenue 

Year 0 $1,639,811 -$1,977,747 -$337,935 -$337,935 

Year 1 $ 4,096,045 -$ 3,168,588 $ 927,457 $ 927,457 

Year 2 $ 3,213,533 -$ 3,274,151 -$ 60,618 $ 866,839 

Year 3 $ 3,808,734 -$ 3,392,335 $ 416,399 $ 1,283,239 

Year 4 $ 4,403,935 -$ 3,510,519 $ 893,416 $ 2,176,655 

Year 5 $ 4,999,136 -$ 3,628,703 $ 1,370,433 $ 3,547,088 

Year 6 $ 5,594,337 -$ 3,746,887 $ 1,847,450 $ 5,394,539 

Year 7 $ 5,689,538 -$ 3,865,071 $ 1,824,468 $ 7,219,006 

Year 8 $ 6,284,739 -$ 3,983,255 $ 2,301,485 $ 9,520,491 

Year 9 $ 6,879,940 -$ 4,101,439 $ 2,778,502 $ 12,298,993 

Year 10 $ 7,475,141 -$ 4,219,623 $ 3,255,519 $ 15,554,511 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Return on Investment Study  May 2012 

 

30 

 

Appendix: 
 
 

Proposal to Provide Water Service & a Sewer Collection System to Zion 
Crossroads 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

























Fluvanna County Office of 
Economic Development 

 
Overview and Recommended Approach 



Fluvanna Economic 
Development 

Overview of Economic Development 
Categories and Their Recruitment 

Requirements  



Entertainment Event Tourism  
 

O Fairly Easy to Recruit  
O Requires land  
O Heavy advertisement outside of our 

boarders 
O Need to partner with others 
O Likely to be short term events 
O Likely to not be a long range revenue source 

(1-5 years)  
 



Entertainment Event Park 

O Requires intensive recruitment 
O Requires identification of large parcels that are 

for sale (700 acres plus)  
O Requires community buy-in 
O Intensive Studies (By the investors)  
O Requires cooperation from the Commonwealth 

of Virginia (VDOT Planning, Safety Planning, 
Support from Virginia Economic Development 
Partnership, Support from Trade and Commerce)   
 



Heritage Tourism 
O Intensive background research 
O Slow to start 
O Intensive advertisement 
O Needs other destination points in the area 

to make it worthwhile 
O Gives a sense of community for other 

recruitment 
 



Agricultural-Tourism 
O Requires unique themes and creative 

advertising or proven business model 
(Winery, Brewery) 

O May need special equipment  
O Possibly dependent on weather patterns  
O Dependent on advertisement and regional 

cooperation  
 



Restaurant and Retail  
O Requires large population densities or 

Employment Centers like technology, light 
Industrial and office parks  

O Requires investment studies  
O Requires population or traffic population 

density studies to determine feasibility 
O Requires willing Investors 

 



Technology, Office, and 
Light Industrial 

O Requires heavy recruitment 
O Requires infrastructure investment  
O Requires willing Investors 
O Requires “Shovel Ready” locations 
O Requires incentives such as tax rebates, 

easy processing of applications and location 
considerations 

O Recruitment to inception takes up to 3 years 
 



Legacy Projects 
O Multi-faceted in nature 
O Requires community buy in 
O May take 20 to 25 years to develop fully 
O Requires special investors 
O Requires a long range planning strategy 
O Likely to have several different types of 

zoning 
O Will need dedicated partners from the Public 

and Private sectors 



Current Resources and 
Advantages 

O Fluvanna has a GREAT location (Central to all 
prominent metro areas in the Commonwealth) 

O Rich heritage extending back to the Revolution 
O Rivers and Agricultural background 
O Underutilized road infrastructure and access to 

an Interstate 
O Not over populated (Clean Slate) 
O No BPOL tax or Meals Tax  

 
 
 
 



Current  Disadvantages 
O Not well know throughout the 

Commonwealth 
O Rail is not as accessible for spurs 
O Do not control the exits for the interstate 
O We not have a detailed comprehensive 

water plan (Short Term, Mid-term or Long 
Term plans not identified)  

O Currently do not have an incentive package 
for bigger recruitments  
 
 
 



What’s Next? 



Short Term Recruitment 
O The short term recruitment strategy is to 

focus on Entertainment Tourism  
O This will give quick returns and allow 

Fluvanna to plan for the mid and long term 
strategies 

O Also, can be done in conjunction with 
Heritage and Event Park Recruitment efforts  

O Will not disturb the Rural Character of the 
County   



A “Targeted Approach” will 
need to be 

 deployed in order to keep the 
County Character without 
turning it into a bedroom 

community!!! 
SUSTAINABILTY is KEY!!!  



Targeted Development: Certain Businesses bring a 
sustainable tax base without bringing extra population 

O R&D Facilities: Large land acquisition, small 
usage that brings a sustainable tax base(Facility 
is hidden in the trees) 

O Agri-Business: Matches the rural flavor of the 
County and does not require population booms.  
These businesses become destination points 

O Employment Center Approach: Bring larger 
facilities with(200-500) employees to Zions and 
centralize business growth that is sustainable 

O Legacy Project: Brings varied business, but 
centralizes growth and is sustainable  



Why Not Retail and 
Restaurant Recruitment? 

O Both are cyclical in nature and too 
dependent on the highs in the economy 

O Would require a large population adjustment 
to it make a main target for economic 
development 

O Does not always match the character of the 
community 

O Will naturally occur in areas where we 
concentrate Employment Centers and if we 
bring a Legacy Project   
 



Similar Model: 
Rockingham County  

O Large business grouping in Eastern and 
Central part of the County 

O Honeywell, Bantam Books, Coors, Perdue, 
Pilgrims Pride, Crown Door, etc. are all in 
Rockingham. 

O Large Retail Centers are in the City of 
Harrisonburg 

O Rockingham County is mostly rural  
O School District ranked 21 out of 118 shown 
 



In Summary, 
A Targeted Plan Brings the 

Following to Fluvanna 
O Brings Success 
O Brings Sustainability  
O Brings Balance  
O Keeps our Character intact 
O Increases tax base without adding extra 

services  



Questions? 



Meals Tax Review and 
Options 

Board of Supervisors Meeting 
June 6, 2012 



What is a Meals Tax? 

• A tax on food and beverages sold, 
for immediate human 
consumption, by a: 
–Restaurant, dining room, grill, coffee 

shop, cafe, snack bar, lunch counter, 
bakery, ice cream shop, lunch 
wagon or truck, bar, lounge, or other 
similar establishment, public or 
private. 



Outline of Meals Tax Authority 
• County is authorized to levy tax on food and beverages sold, for human 

consumption, by a restaurant as defined in VC Sec. 35.1-1. 
 

• Maximum rate of tax is 4%.   
 

• Applies to alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverages served as part of a 
meal, but does not apply to gratuities or meals covered by food stamps 
 

• Despite the breadth of the definition of “restaurant” there are numerous 
exemptions, such as “in-house” cafeterias, etc., for employees only; 
non-profit fundraisers; churches and schools; hospitals, etc., for 
patients, et al.; day care centers; publically-owned facilities. 
 

• Scope of tax coverage includes food stores serving ready-to-eat foods. 
 

• Must be approved by referendum.  Subsequent amendments need not be 
approved by referendum. 
 

• Collection procedures established by local ordinance. 
 



Referendum Election 
• Initiated either by Board of Supervisors resolution or the 

filing of a signed petition by registered voters in the county 
equal to 10% of the registered voters in the county. 
 

• A referendum election shall be ordered at least 81 days 
prior to the date for which the referendum election is 
called. 
– For the referendum to be placed on the ballot for November 6th, 

2012, a special election court order would need to be issued by 
the Clerk of the Circuit Court by August 17th, 2012. 

 
• The Clerk of the Circuit Court shall publish notice of the 

election in a newspaper of general circulation in the county 
once a week for three consecutive weeks prior to the 
election. 
 

• The tax can be levied only if it is approved in a referendum 
within the county. 
 
 
 
 



Revenue Use 

• General Governmental Revenue 
 

• Board of Supervisors resolution or petition 
may state for what projects and / or purposes 
the revenues collected from the tax are to be 
used. 
– For example, Capital Projects, Schools, Debt 

 



Surrounding Localities Meals Tax 

• Albemarle: 4% 

• Buckingham: N/A 

• Goochland: N/A 

• Greene: 4% 

• Louisa: 4% 

• Nelson: 4% 

• Orange: 4% 
 

 



Questions? 



Tax-Exempt 

• Cannot tax the following:  
– Discretionary gratuity 
– Mandatory gratuity or service charge, only to the extent that  

it does not exceed 20% of the sales price 
 

• Cannot tax the following items, when served for off-
premise consumption: 
– Alcoholic beverages sold in a factory sealed containers 
– Food purchased for human consumption as “food” is defined 

in the Food Stamp Act of 1977, except for the following 
items: 

• Sandwiches 
• Salad bar items sold from a salad bar 
• Prepackaged single-serving salads consisting primarily of an 

assortment of vegetables 
• Nonfactory sealed beverages 

– Food and beverages sold through vending machines 
 



Tax Exempt - Continued 

• Cannot tax the following purchases:  
– Furnished by food establishments to employees as part 

of their compensation when no charge is made to the 
employee. 

– Day care centers, public or private elementary or 
secondary schools, colleges, universities to their 
students or employees. 

– Hospital, medical clinic, convalescent home, nursing 
home, home for the aged, infirm, handicapped, battered 
women, narcotic addicts or alcoholics. 

– Volunteer fire departments and rescue squads; 
nonprofit educational, charitable or benevolent 
organization; church; or religious body; not exceeding 
three times per calendar as a fundraising activity.  
 

 









































































 

 
 

“Responsive & Responsible Government”

COUNTY OF FLUVANNA
P.O. Box 540 

Palmyra, VA 22963 
 

 (434) 591-1910 
 FAX (434) 591-1911 

www.co.fluvanna.va.us 

Memo 
To: Fluvanna County Board of Supervisors 

From: Andrew J. Pompei, Planner 

Date: May 8, 2012 

Re: Barking Dogs and the Noise Ordinance 

Background 

 Noises generated by animals, including dogs, are exempt from the regulations established by the 
current noise ordinance (see County Code: Sec. 15.1-8L). 

 A citizen asked the Board of Supervisors to consider amending the noise ordinance to address 
barking dogs.  

Other Localities  
The noise ordinances of other Virginia localities were researched and compared. Of the 14 localities 
researched, nine (9) have regulations that address barking dogs. 
 Noise Level of Barking: Some localities did not specify the volume at which barking dogs are 

considered a nuisance. Others specified that barking audible on an adjacent property; within a 
dwelling; and/or more than 50 feet from the animal violated the noise regulations.  

 Duration of Barking: Some localities consider barking a nuisance only if it lasts a specified 
period of time (Example: Continuously for 15 minutes or more).  

 Time of Barking: Some localities consider barking a nuisance only during certain times of day 
(Example: Continuous barking between 10:00 PM and 7:00 AM).  

 Location of Barking: Some localities only regulate animal noises within residential areas. Dogs 
and other animals within agricultural areas may be exempt from the noise regulations.  

Considerations 
The following issues should be considered before regulating barking dogs: 
 Resource Constraints: Investigating barking dogs requires significant staff time. Many times, 

complaints about barking dogs occur at night, when few employees are on-duty. Paying staff to 
investigate complaints may be costly, especially if overtime is required to investigate night calls.  

 Enforcement Responsibilities: Enforcement responsibilities vary by locality. To reduce costs, 
many localities require the complainant to appear before a magistrate and request that a 
summons be issued. Animal control officers may also investigate complaints.  

Next Steps 
The Board of Supervisors may choose to amend the noise ordinance (Chapter 15.1: Noise Control), 
or keep the text as-is.  
 



Fluvanna County: Planning & Community Development 

May 2012 

Comparison of Noise Regulations & Barking Dogs: Select Virginia Localities 

Locality 

Do Local Ordinances  
Specifically Address  

Barking Dogs or  
Other Animals? 

Ordinance/ 
Section of Code 

Noise Level of 
of Barking 

Time/Duration  
of Barking 

Penalty Notes 

Albemarle County Yes 
 

 

Sec. 4-106  
(Noise from Animals;  
Penalty) 

Not Specified  
 
Noises may be exces-
sive, continuous , or 
untimely.  

No specific time of day 
specified.  
 
Any howling, barking, 
or other animal noise 
that continues for 30 
consecutive minutes 
or more without a 
pause of greater than 
5 minutes. 

Class 3 Misdemeanor 
 
Third Conviction: 
Fine is issued and animal 
must be removed from 
the area; if owner does 
not comply within two 
weeks, the animal will be 
taken to an animal shelter 
for adoption outside the 
area. 

Regulations found in Chapter 4: 
Animals & Fowl (not Noise Ordi-
nance) 
 
Animal noise regulations apply to 
all animals except: 

Animals on properties of 5 acres 
or more zoned Rural Areas Dis-
trict; 

Any animals in an animal shelter 
or commercial kennel; or 

Livestock or poultry. 

Buckingham County  No Noise Control Ordinance 
(Adopted 12/10/1990) 

N/A N/A N/A People may not make, continue, or 
cause “excessive unnecessary or 
unreasonably loud noise” (11:00 
PM—7:00 AM). Animal noises are 
not addressed.  

City of Charlottesville Yes Sec. 4-39 
(Barking or Howling Dogs) 

Not Specified 
 
Barking or howling may 
be loud, frequent, or 
habitual. 

Not Specified Class 4 Misdemeanor 
 
Third Conviction within 1 
Year of A Related Offense: 
Animal must be removed 
from the City; if owner 
does not comply within 
two weeks, the animal 
may be killed or put up for 
adoption outside the city. 

Regulations found in Chapter 4: 
Animals & Fowl (not Noise Ordi-
nance) 



Fluvanna County: Planning & Community Development 

May 2012 

Comparison of Noise Regulations & Barking Dogs: Select Virginia Localities 

Locality 

Do Local Ordinances  
Specifically Address  

Barking Dogs or  
Other Animals? 

Ordinance/ 
Section of Code 

Noise Level of 
of Barking 

Time/Duration  
of Barking 

Penalty Notes 

Culpeper County Yes Sec. 10A-23(f) 
(Prohibitions Generally) 

Plainly audible across 
property boundaries 

No specific time of day 
or duration specified.  
 
An owner may not al-
low an animal to make 
noise “frequently or 
habitually.” 

Class 4 Misdemeanor The following activities are exempt 
from the noise regulations: 

Private animal shelters or ken-
nels which were in existence at 
the time of the regulations’ 
adoption, during the day only; 
and 

Livestock.  

Cumberland County No Sec. 34-1  
(Noise) 

N/A N/A N/A Noise regulations do not address 
animal noises. 

Gloucester County Yes Sec. 11-3(7) 
(Specific Prohibitions) 

Audible across a resi-
dential property line or 
through a common wall 
between attached 
dwellings 

An owner may not al-
low an animal to make 
noise “frequently or 
habitually”  
(10:00 PM—7:00 AM) 
 
Applies only to resi-
dential zoning districts 

First Offense: 
Class 3 Misdemeanor 
 
Subsequent Offenses: 
Class 2 Misdemeanor 

Animal noise restrictions only apply 
to residential zoning districts.  
 
Sec. 3-39 (Nuisance Animals) classi-
fies “continuous barking audible 
outside the perimeters of the own-
er’s property” as a nuisance.  

Goochland County The County Attorney deemed the 
previous noise ordinance unconsti-
tutional, based on a November  
2010 decision by the City of Rich-
mond’s General District Court 

No Current Noise Ordinance 

Previous Noise Ordinance was repealed on February 1, 2011.   

Greene County No N/A N/A N/A N/A Noise regulations do not address 
animal noises. 



Fluvanna County: Planning & Community Development 

May 2012 

Comparison of Noise Regulations & Barking Dogs: Select Virginia Localities 

Locality 

Do Local Ordinances  
Specifically Address  

Barking Dogs or  
Other Animals? 

Ordinance/ 
Section of Code 

Noise Level of 
of Barking 

Time/Duration  
of Barking 

Penalty Notes 

Hanover County Yes Sec. 16-8(8) 
(Specific Acts as Noise Dis-
turbance) 

Audible across a resi-
dential property line or 
through a common wall 
between attached 
dwellings 

Continuously or re-
peatedly for  15 
minutes (7:00 AM—
10:00 PM) or  continu-
ously or repeatedly for 
10 minutes (10:00 
PM—7:00 AM) 

Civil  Penalties 
First Offense: $250 
Subsequent Offenses: 
$500 
 
Criminal Penalties 
Class 3 Misdemeanor 
Fine up to $500 

No person may be charged with 
a violation of the noise ordi-
nance unless they have received 
notice from a law enforcement/
code enforcement official and 
have had an opportunity to 
abate the noise violation.  

James City County Yes Sec. 15-20(e)1 
(Noise Regulations) 

Audible across a resi-
dential property line or 
through a common wall 
between attached 
dwellings.  

11:00 PM—7:00 AM  
 
No specific duration 
specified.  

First Offense: $50 fine 
Second Offense  
(within 180 days):  
$100 fine 
Third Offense  
(within 180 days):  
$500 fine 
Fourth Offense 
(within 180 days): 
Class 4 Misdemeanor 

 

Louisa County Yes Sec. 51-3(11) 
(Unnecessary Noises  
Enumerated) 

Not specified No specific time or 
duration specified.  

First Offense: 
Class 4 Misdemeanor 
 
Subsequent Offenses 
(within 12 months): 
Class 3 Misdemeanor 

Applies to animals within residen-
tial subdivisions or commercial are-
as.  



Fluvanna County: Planning & Community Development 

May 2012 

Comparison of Noise Regulations & Barking Dogs: Select Virginia Localities 

Locality 

Do Local Ordinances  
Specifically Address  

Barking Dogs or  
Other Animals? 

Ordinance/ 
Section of Code 

Noise Level of 
of Barking 

Time/Duration  
of Barking 

Penalty Notes 

New Kent County Yes Sec. 46-124(4) 
(Unnecessary or Excessive 
Noise) 

Not specified No specific time or 
duration specified.  

First Offense: 
Class 4 Misdemeanor 
 
Second Offense: 
Class 3 Misdemeanor 

Animal noise provisions only ap-
ply to zoning districts in which 
residential uses are permitted.  

Orange County No Current Noise Ordinance 

Previous Noise Ordinance was repealed on July 12, 2011.  

Previous ordinance repealed due to 
enforcement issues. New ordinance 
has not been adopted.  

City of Richmond Yes Current ordinance was adopted 
July 2011, after the previous noise 
ordinance was deemed unconstitu-
tional by the Richmond Genera’ 
District Court in November 2010.  

Sec. 38-42 
(Noisy Animals and Birds) 

Plainly audible inside a 
dwelling unit or at least 
50 feet from the ani-
mal. 

At least once a minute 
for ten consecutive 
minutes. 
 
No specific time speci-
fied. 

First Offense: 
Class 4 Misdemeanor 
 
Second Offense 
(within 1 year): 
Class 3 Misdemeanor 
 
Third/Subsequent Offens-
es 
(within 1 year): 
Class 2  




	Agenda
	Minutes of May 16, 2012
	FY12 Budget Suppement for Library Telecommunications Reimbursement
	MOU for Microfinance and Workforce Education (CIC, EDA & FEF)
	Approve issuance of RFP for Fork Union Station Design-Build Construction
	Accounts Payable
	Fluvanna County ROI
	Economic Directors Approach for Economic Development
	Meals Tax Review and Options
	Procedures for Boards, Commissions and Committees 
	BCC-Social Services Board/Rivanna District
	BCC-Library Board of Trustees/Rivanna District
	BCC-Planning Commission/Cunningham District
	BCC-Planning Commission/Palmyra District
	BCC-Ag/Forestal Advisory Committee
	BCC-Ag/Forestal Advisory Committee
	BCC-Economic Development Authority
	BCC-Court Green Committee
	BCC-JAUNT Board
	Noise Ordinance
	Contengency Report



